

Manuscript version: Author's Accepted Manuscript

The version presented in WRAP is the author's accepted manuscript and may differ from the published version or Version of Record.

Persistent WRAP URL:

http://wrap.warwick.ac.uk/180653

How to cite:

Please refer to published version for the most recent bibliographic citation information. If a published version is known of, the repository item page linked to above, will contain details on accessing it.

Copyright and reuse:

The Warwick Research Archive Portal (WRAP) makes this work by researchers of the University of Warwick available open access under the following conditions.

Copyright © and all moral rights to the version of the paper presented here belong to the individual author(s) and/or other copyright owners. To the extent reasonable and practicable the material made available in WRAP has been checked for eligibility before being made available.

Copies of full items can be used for personal research or study, educational, or not-for-profit purposes without prior permission or charge. Provided that the authors, title and full bibliographic details are credited, a hyperlink and/or URL is given for the original metadata page and the content is not changed in any way.

Publisher's statement:

Please refer to the repository item page, publisher's statement section, for further information.

For more information, please contact the WRAP Team at: wrap@warwick.ac.uk.

On the asymptotic behaviour of a run and tumble equation for bacterial chemotaxis

Josephine Evans^{*} Havva Yoldaş[†]

May 16, 2023

Abstract

We prove that linear and weakly non-linear run and tumble equations converge to a unique steady state solution with an exponential rate in a weighted total variation distance. In the linear setting, our result extends the previous results to an arbitrary dimension $d \ge 1$ while relaxing the assumptions. The main challenge is that even though the equation is a mass-preserving, Boltzmann-type kinetic-transport equation, the classical L^2 hypocoercivity methods, e.g., by Dolbeault, Mouhot, Schmeiser (Tans. Amer. Math. Soc., 367(6):3807-3828, 2015) are not applicable for dimension d > 1. We overcome this difficulty by using a probabilistic technique, known as Harris's theorem. We also introduce a weakly non-linear model via a non-local coupling on the chemoattractant concentration. This toy model serves as an intermediate step between the linear model and the physically more relevant non-linear models. We build a stationary solution for this equation and provide an hypocoercivity result.

Contents

| 1 | Introduction and main results | 2 |
|---|--|----------|
| | 1.1 Assumptions and main results | 4 |
| | 1.2 Motivation, methodology and novelty | |
| | 1.3 Macroscopic models for chemotaxis | |
| 2 | Harris's Theorem | 10 |
| | 2.1 Foster-Lyapunov condition | 12 |
| | 2.2 Minorisation condition | |
| 3 | Weakly non-linear coupling | 18 |
| | 3.1 Stationary solutions | 18 |
| | 3.2 Perturbation argument | |
| 4 | Discussion and future research | 25 |
| | 4.1 Existence of steady states for fully non-linear models | 25 |
| | 4.2 Physically more realistic tumbling kernels | |
| Α | Cauchy theory for the weakly non-linear equation | 26 |

^{*}Warwick Mathematics Institute, University of Warwick, Zeeman Building, Coventry CV4 7AL, United Kingdom. josephine.evans@warwick.ac.uk

[†]Delft Institute of Applied Mathematics, Faculty of Electrical Engineering, Mathematics and Computer Science, Delft University of Technology, Mekelweg 4, 2628 CD Delft, Netherlands. h.yoldas@tudelft.nl

1 Introduction and main results

We consider a kinetic-transport equation which describes the movement of biological microorganisms biased towards a chemoattractant. The model is called the *run and tumble* equation and introduced in [1, 53] based on some experimental observations [5] on the chemotaxis of the bacteria called *E. coli* towards amino-acids. The equation is given by

$$\partial_t f + v \cdot \nabla_x f = \int_{\mathcal{V}} \left(T(x, v, v') f(t, x, v') - T(x, v', v) f(t, x, v) \right) \, \mathrm{d}v', \quad t \ge 0, \, x \in \mathbb{R}^d, \, v \in \mathcal{V}.$$
(1)

where $f := f(t, x, v) \ge 0$ is the density distribution of microorganisms at time $t \ge 0$ at a position $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$, moving with a velocity $v \in \mathcal{V} \subseteq \mathbb{R}^d$. In (1), $\mathcal{V} = B(0, V_0)$ is a centered ball with a unit volume and a radius $V_0 > 0$ so that $|\mathcal{V}| = 1$. Microorganisms perform a biased movement along the gradient of the chemoattractant with a constant speed and they change their orientation at random times towards the regions where the chemoattractant concentration is higher. This biased random walk drives the microorganisms up the gradient of the chemoattactant density. The underlying process is also called a *velocity jump process*.

The tumbling frequency T describes the change in velocity from v to v' and it can be written as

$$T(t, x, v, v') := T(m, v, v') = \lambda(m)\kappa(v, v'),$$
(2)

where $\lambda : \mathbb{R} \to [0, \infty)$ is the tumbling rate and *m* is the gradient of the external signal *M* along the direction of v' and given by

$$m = v' \cdot \nabla_x M,\tag{3}$$

where M depends on the chemoattractant concentration S via

$$M = m_0 + \log S,\tag{4}$$

where $m_0 \in \mathbb{R}_0^+$ represents the external signal in the absence of a chemical stimulus. In (2), the tumbling kernel κ is a probability distribution on \mathcal{V} and gives the probability of tumbling from velocity v to velocity v' so that it satisfies

$$\int_{\mathcal{V}} \kappa(v, v') \, \mathrm{d}v' = 1.$$

We assume that the distribution of the change in the velocity due to tumbling is uniform, i.e. $\kappa \equiv 1$. If the chemoattractant density S(x) is a fixed function of x, then the equation becomes linear. Together with the above assumptions, the linear run and tumble equation takes the form

$$\partial_t f + v \cdot \nabla_x f = \int_{\mathcal{V}} \lambda(v' \cdot \nabla_x M) f(t, x, v') \, \mathrm{d}v' - \lambda(v \cdot \nabla_x M) f(t, x, v),$$

$$f(0, x, v) = f_0(x, v), \qquad x \in \mathbb{R}^d, \, v \in \mathcal{V},$$

(5)

where the initial datum f_0 is a probability measure, i.e., $f_0 \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^d \times \mathcal{V})^1$.

Apart from the linear equation, we consider a model where the chemoattractant concentration S solves

$$S(t,x) = S_{\infty}(x)(1 + \eta(N * \rho)(t,x)),$$
(6)

^{1.} $\mathcal{P}(\Omega)$ denotes the space of probability measures defined on Ω .

where $\eta > 0$ is a small constant, N is a positive, smooth function with a compact support, S_{∞} is a smooth function and $\rho(t,x) := \int_{\mathcal{V}} f(t,x,v) \, dv$ is the spatial marginal density of microorganisms. We refer to the problem (5)-(6) as the *weakly non-linear* run and tumble equation. This model can be considered as an intermediate model between the linear equation and physically relevant non-linear equations, e.g., when the microorganisms produce the chemoattractant by themselves S solves a Poissontype equation with a source term as the density,

$$-\Delta_x S + \alpha S = \rho,\tag{7}$$

where $\alpha \ge 0$ is the chemical degradation rate. This non-linear model was first introduced in [1, 44] and further studied in [20].

The analytical results on the long-time behaviour of kinetic models of chemotaxis are scarce in the literature. We give a brief summary below. The main reason is that the classical hypocoercivity methods are not applicable to the run and tumble equation. We dedicate Section 1.2 to a detailed discussion on this matter. In the linear case, the closest result to ours is [43] where the authors prove exponential convergence towards a non-trivial stationary state in $d \ge 1$ assuming that S(x) is a radially symmetric function. In this paper, the techniques we use allow us to remove the radial symmetry assumption on S, thus we are able to generalise the result to $d \ge 1$, and a wider class of possible tumbling rates, with completely constructive arguments. However, these techniques cannot be utilised in the non-linear case. Therefore, we introduce a weakly non-linear equation to understand the link between the linear equation and the non-linear one (5)-(7). A detailed discussion of this connection and how we choose the coupling (6) can be found in Section 4.

Summary of previous results In this paper, we are concerned with the long-time behaviour of the run and tumble equation in the case that the solutions exist globally in time. Therefore, we do not provide an existence result. However, we would like to give a brief summary of the previous works, including the study of the Cauchy problem. We remark that the global existence of solutions for the models we study in this paper can be obtained by following the strategy e.g. in [20, 43] since the tumbling frequency we consider can be bounded by the necessary terms.

The linear run and tumble model was studied in numerous works including [11, 43, 45, 46]. In [11], the authors proved the existence and uniqueness of a non-trivial stationary state and exponential decay to equilibrium as $t \to \infty$ in dimension d = 1 by using modified entropy approach due to [25]. An example of a tumbling frequency satisfying the assumptions in [11] is given by

$$T(x, v, v') = 1 + \chi \operatorname{sgn}(x \cdot v), \quad \chi \in (0, 1),$$
(8)

where χ is called the chemotactic sensitivity. Recently in [43], this result was extended to higher dimensions $d \ge 1$ by considering splitting techniques due to [42]. These techniques are based on using the Krein-Rutman theorem for positive semigroups which do not satisfy the necessary compactness assumptions. The general form of the tumbling frequency considered in [43] is given by

$$T(x, v, v') = 1 - \chi \operatorname{sgn}(\partial_t S + v \cdot \nabla_x S), \quad \chi \in (0, 1).$$
(9)

In [43], the authors further assumed that the concentration of the chemoattractant S(x) is radially symmetric and decreasing in x such that $S(x) \to 0$ as $|x| \to \infty$. This assumption simplifies the tumbling kernel (9) to (8) since the radial symmetry assumption reduces the problem essentially to dimension d = 1. In this paper, we are able to remove the radial symmetry assumption and obtain the exponential convergence towards a unique stationary state in dimension $d \ge 1$. As in our case, when the concentration of the chemoattractant S is a fixed function of x but not necessarily radially symmetric or strictly decreasing in |x|, we refer to it as the linear problem. However we remark that, in [43], the authors refer to a specific case of the run and tumble equation as the linear problem. What we call the linear equation in this paper refers to more general form of the run and tumble equation.

For the Cauchy problem, there are global existence results in [8, 15, 20, 36], and blow up results in [6]. Moreover, in [10], the author showed the existence of traveling wave solutions of a non-linear run and tumble model which is coupled with two reaction-diffusion equations. This analytical result complements the experimental observations and computational studies in [49, 50]. We refer also to [7]for a detailed review of existence and blow-up results for various kinetic models of chemotaxis.

Summary of our main results In this paper, we prove that there exists a unique, non-trivial steady state solution to both the linear and the weakly non-linear equations and that both the models converge to the respective stationary states with explicitly computable exponential rates. In the linear case, our results are obtained by means of Harris's theorem which is a probabilistic method in ergodic theory of Markov processes. Moreover, we build a unique stationary solution for the weakly non-linear equation (5)-(6) via a fixed-point argument and we show that the solutions coverge to this stationary solution exponentially using a perturbation argument. Indeed, S(t, x) in (6) can be treated as a perturbation of the linear equation whenever $(N * \rho)(t, x)$ is decreasing or η is small. The explicit rates of convergence can be obtained in terms of the constants given in the assumptions. Our proofs are all constructive and the estimates are in the weighted total variation distances, valid for arbitrary dimension, i.e. $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$, $d \geq 1$.

1.1 Assumptions and main results

We assume that the tumbling rate increases when the microorganisms move far away from the regions where the chemoattractant density is high and the chemoattractant density decreases as $|x| \rightarrow \infty$. We make the following hypotheses:

(H1) The tumbling rate $\lambda(m) : \mathbb{R} \to (0, \infty)$ is a function of the form

$$\lambda(m) = 1 - \chi \psi(m), \quad \chi \in (0, 1)$$
(10)

where ψ is a bounded (with $\|\psi\|_{\infty} \leq 1$), odd, increasing function and $m\psi(m)$ is differentiable.

(H2) We suppose that $M(x) \to -\infty$ as $|x| \to \infty$, $|\nabla_x M(x)|$ is bounded from above, and $\|\nabla_x M\|_{\infty}$ exists. Moreover, there exist $R \ge 0$ and $m_* > 0$ such that whenever |x| > R we have

$$|\nabla_x M(x)| \ge m_*.$$

- (H3) We suppose that $\operatorname{Hess}(M)(x) \to 0$ as $|x| \to \infty$ and $|\operatorname{Hess}(M)(x)|$ is bounded.
- (H4) There exists a constant $\tilde{\lambda} > 0$, depending on ψ and $\|\nabla_x M\|_{\infty}$, and an integer k > 0, depending on ψ , such that

$$\int_{\mathcal{V}} \psi(v' \cdot \nabla_x M(x)) v' \cdot \nabla_x M(x) \, \mathrm{d}v' \ge \tilde{\lambda}(\psi, \|\nabla_x M\|_{\infty}) |\nabla_x M(x)|^k.$$
(11)

Remark 1.1. We remark here that in addition to assumption (10), our theorem in the weakly non-linear setting also requires ψ to be Lipschitz. This is so that we can ensure that a small difference in ρ will result in a small difference in $\lambda(v \cdot \nabla_x M)$ when M depends continuously on ρ . This type of assumption would in fact be necessary for the standard linearization of a coupled run and tumble equation to make sense and we believe it is a strength of our results that we are able to deal with ψ other than the sign function.

In order to explain where (H4) comes from and justify its use we briefly prove (11) in two cases in the following lemma:

Lemma 1.2. If $\psi(z) = sgn(z)$ then (11) holds with k = 1 and

$$\tilde{\lambda} = \int_{-V_0}^{V_0} |v_1| (V_0^2 - v_1^2)^{(d-1)/2} \frac{\pi^{(d-1)/2}}{\Gamma((d-1)/2 + 1)}.$$

If ψ is differentiable with $\psi'(0) > 0$ then (11) holds with k = 2, and $\tilde{\lambda}$ depends on the exact form of ψ . Proof. Since \mathcal{V} is a ball of radius V_0 , by rotation we obtain

$$\int_{\mathcal{V}} \psi(v' \cdot \nabla_x M(x)) v' \cdot \nabla_x M(x) \, \mathrm{d}v' = \int_{\mathcal{V}} \psi(v_1 | \nabla_x M(x)|) v_1 | \nabla_x M(x)| \mathbb{1}_{\{v_2^2 + \dots + v_d^2 \le V_0^2 - v_1^2\}} \, \mathrm{d}v_1.$$

Integrating out v_2, \ldots, v_d gives

$$\int_{-V_0}^{V_0} \psi(v_1 |\nabla_x M(x)|) v_1 |\nabla_x M(x)| (V_0^2 - v_1^2)^{(d-1)/2} \frac{\pi^{(d-1)/2}}{\Gamma((d-1)/2 + 1)} \,\mathrm{d}v_1.$$
(12)

We can bound (12) below by

$$\frac{\pi^{(d-1)/2}}{\Gamma((d-1)/2+2)} (V_0/2)^{d-1} \int_{-V_0/2}^{V_0/2} \psi(v_1 |\nabla_x M(x)|) v_1 |\nabla_x M(x)| \, \mathrm{d}v_1$$

From this point we extract the first result on $\psi(z) = \operatorname{sgn}(z)$.

For the case where ψ is differentiable, we continue using the fact that $\frac{\pi^{d/2}}{\Gamma(d/2+1)}V_0^d = 1$ and changing variables from v_1 to $y = v_1 |\nabla_x M|$, then the above bound is equal to

$$\frac{1}{2^{d-1}\sqrt{\pi}} \frac{\Gamma(d/2+1)}{\Gamma((d-1)/2+1)} \frac{1}{|\nabla_x M| V_0} \int_{-V_0 |\nabla_x M|/2}^{V_0 |\nabla_x M|/2} \psi(y) y \, \mathrm{d}y.$$

Note that $\psi(y)y$ is a positive, even function which is 0 at y = 0. We have an average of $\psi(y)y$ over $-V_0|\nabla_x M|, V_0|\nabla_x M|$ and it approaches to 0 as $|\nabla_x M(x)| \to 0$. Since ψ is differentiable then $y\psi(y) \approx \psi'(0)y^2$ when y is small so as $|\nabla_x M| \to 0$ we obtain

$$\frac{1}{2^{d-1}\sqrt{\pi}} \frac{\Gamma(d/2+1)}{\Gamma((d-1)/2+1)} \frac{1}{|\nabla_x M| V_0} \int_{-V_0|\nabla_x M|/2}^{V_0|\nabla_x M|/2} \psi(y) y \,\mathrm{d}y \approx \frac{1}{2^{d-1}\sqrt{\pi}} \frac{\Gamma(d/2+1)}{\Gamma((d-1)/2+1)} \psi'(0) \frac{V_0^2}{12} |\nabla_x M|^2.$$

This approximation only holds true as $|\nabla_x M|$ goes to 0, but since $|\nabla_x M|$ is a bounded function, and $\frac{1}{2^{d-1}\sqrt{\pi}} \frac{\Gamma(d/2+1)}{\Gamma((d-1)/2+1)} \frac{1}{|\nabla_x M|V_0} \int_{-V_0|\nabla_x M|/2}^{V_0|\nabla_x M|/2} \psi(y) y \, dy$ is a continuous function of $|\nabla_x M|$ and we have the result.

We state the main results of the paper below. Their proofs are given at the end of Sections 2 and 3 respectively.

Theorem 1.3 (The linear equation). Suppose that $t \mapsto f_t$ is the solution of Equation (5) with initial data $f_0 \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^d \times \mathcal{V})$. We suppose that hypotheses (H1)–(H4) are satisfied. Then there exist positive constants C, σ (independent of f_0) such that

$$\|f_t - f_\infty\|_* \le C e^{-\sigma t} \|f_0 - f_\infty\|_*, \tag{13}$$

where f_{∞} is the unique steady state solution to Equation (5). The norm $\|\cdot\|_*$ is the weighted total variation defined by

$$\|\mu\|_* := \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \int_{\mathcal{V}} \left(1 - \gamma v \cdot \nabla_x M(x) - \beta \gamma \psi(v \cdot \nabla_x M(x)) v \cdot \nabla_x M(x)\right) e^{-\gamma M(x)} |\mu| \, \mathrm{d}v \, \mathrm{d}x, \tag{14}$$

where γ, β are positive constants which can be computed explicitly and are sufficiently small so that the weight in $\|\cdot\|_*$ is positive.

Furthermore, if there exist positive constants $\underline{C}, \overline{C}$, and α such that

$$\underline{C} - \alpha \langle x \rangle \le M(x) \le \overline{C} - \alpha \langle x \rangle,$$

then using equivalence of norms we can show a contraction as in (13) (with different constants C and σ) in the weighted total variation norm with the weight $e^{\delta\langle x\rangle}$

$$\|\mu\|_{**} := \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \int_{\mathcal{V}} e^{\delta\langle x \rangle} |\mu| \, \mathrm{d}v \, \mathrm{d}x, \tag{15}$$

where δ is a small enough constant depending on M and $\langle x \rangle = \sqrt{1 + |x|^2}$.

Remark 1.4. We remark briefly on the Cauchy theory for this equation. Since it is linear we believe that the simplest way to see that the equation is well posed for initial data in $\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^d \times \mathcal{V})$ is to directly construct a Markov process for which (5). We can do this by generating a series of jump times J_1, J_2, \ldots which are a Poisson process with rate $(1 + \chi)$ and a series of post jump velocities V_1, V_2, \ldots which are independent and drawn from the uniform measure on \mathcal{V} and lastly a series of thinning random variables U_1, U_2, \ldots which are iid drawn from the uniform distribution on $[0, 1 + \chi]$. Then we define a piecwise deterministic Markov process (X_t, V_t) with (X_0, V_0) having the prescribed distribution of the initial data and where if $t \in (J_i, J_{i+1})$ we have $X_t = X_{J_i} + (t - J_i)V_{J_i}$ and $V_t = V_{J_i}$ then we set $V_{J_{i+1}} = V_{i+1}$ if $U_{i+1} \leq \lambda(V_{J_i} \cdot \nabla_x M(X_{J_{i+1}}))$ and $V_{J_{i+1}} = V_{J_i}$ otherwise.

Theorem 1.5 (The weakly non-linear equation). Suppose that $t \mapsto f_t$ is the solution of Equation (5) with the coupling (6) where we suppose that N(x) is a positive, smooth function with a compact support, $\eta > 0$ is a constant, and $S_{\infty}(x)$ is a smooth function satisfying for some $\underline{C}, \overline{C}, \alpha > 0$ that

$$\underline{C} - \alpha \langle x \rangle \le M_{\infty}(x) := \log(S_{\infty}(x)) \le \overline{C} - \alpha \langle x \rangle,$$

where $\langle x \rangle = \sqrt{1 + x^2}$. We suppose that hypotheses (H1)–(H4) are satisfied and that ψ is a Lipschitz function. Then there exist some constant \tilde{C} depending on \underline{C}, \bar{C} , and α such that if $\eta < \tilde{C}$ then there exists a unique steady state solution to Equation (5)-(6). Suppose further that, any initial data $f_0 \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^d \times \mathcal{V})$ satisfying

$$||f_0||_{**} < \frac{1}{4} \left(\frac{\sigma^2}{4\eta \chi V_0 D ||\psi'||_{\infty} ||\nabla_x N||_{\infty}} - C^* \right),$$

where σ , D and C^{*} are found in the proofs of Theorem 1.3, Proposition 3.1 and Lemma 3.4 respectively, then we have that

$$||f_t - f_{\infty}||_{**} \le Ce^{-\sigma t/2} ||f_0 - f_{\infty}||_{**},$$

where C and σ are some positive constants, and $\|\cdot\|_{**}$ is defined in (15). Here we emphasize that in this theorem f_{∞} is the steady state of (5) with the coupling (6).

Remark 1.6. A discussion of the Cauchy theory for the weakly non-linear equation is in the appendix. Remark 1.7. Hypotheses (H2)–(H4) can be verified also in the case of the Poisson coupling (7). The solution of $-\Delta W_y(x) + \alpha W_y(x) = \delta_x$ is called Yukawa potential and given by the Green's function

$$W_y(x) = \int_0^\infty \frac{1}{(4\pi y)^{d/2}} \exp\left(-\frac{|x|^2}{4y} - \alpha y\right) \,\mathrm{d}y,$$

 and

$$-\frac{\log W_y(x)}{\sqrt{\alpha}|x|} \to 1 \text{ as } |x| \to \infty.$$

for dimension $d \ge 1$ (see [39], Theorem 6.23). We can see that $|\nabla_x M(x)|$ and |Hess(M)(x)| are bounded and $\text{Hess}(M)(x) \to 0$ as $|x| \to \infty$, where $M(x) = \log W_y(x)$.

Moreover the solution of $-\Delta_x S + \alpha S = \rho$ is given by

$$S := W_y * \rho = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} W_y(x)\rho(t,y) \,\mathrm{d}y.$$

This case requires extra assumptions on ρ in order to verify hypotheses (H2)–(H4). Since we do not deal with the Poisson coupling in this paper, we skip further details.

Structure of the paper This paper is organised as follows. In Section 1.1, we listed the assumptions which are needed throughout the paper and presented the main results. We dedicated Section 1.2 to explaining the motivation, methodology and the novelty of our results. In Section 1.3, we comment on the connection between the run and tumble equation and an aggregation-diffusion equation obtained as a parabolic scaling limit of the kinetic equation. In Section 2, after stating Harris's theorem, in the subsequent two subsections we show how we verify two hypotheses of Harris's theorem for the linear run and tumble equation. We give the proof of Theorem 1.3 at the end of Section 2. Section 3 is then devoted to the weakly non-linear case. In this section, we prove that there exists a unique stationary state solution and exponential convergence to this solution. Finally, Section 4 is dedicated to further discussions, particularly the connection between our results and the non-linear cases when different couplings for the chemoattractant density are considered.

1.2 Motivation, methodology and novelty

Motivation Our main motivation in this work is to simplify the proofs showing convergence to equilibrium for linear run and tumble equations, and extend their validity to a wider range of tumbling kernels and tumbling rates. We believe this moves the theory closer to being able to study the most biologically relevant tumbling rates and kernels, particularly existence and linear stability for the fully non-linear models.

Another motivation is that the equation is an interesting example within kinetic evolution equations. It differs from similar kinetic equations in a few key ways which we now describe. The linear equation (5) has a structure similar to several equations appearing in the kinetic theory of gasses. In particular, we mention a *linear Boltzmann equation* of the form

$$\partial_t f + v \cdot \nabla_x f - \nabla_x V(x) \cdot \nabla_v f = \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^2} f(t, x, v') \, \mathrm{d}v' \right) \mathcal{M}(v) - f(t, x, v),$$

where f := f(t, x, v) is the density distribution of particles at time t in the phase space (x, v), V(x) is the confining potential, and $\mathcal{M}(v)$ is the Maxwellian velocity distribution. Long time behaviour for such equations is studied in the field of *hypocoercivity*. We mention Villani's memoire [54] as the work which began the study of *hypocoercivity* as a coherent behaviour common to many kinetic equations. The linear Boltzmann equation was first shown to converge to equilibrium by Hérau in [34]. This also falls under the scope of the powerful general theorem in [25]. In [16], written by the authors and others, we show that Harris's theorem from Markov process theory provides an alternative way of showing convergence to equilibrium for the linear Boltzmann equations.

The run and tumble equation differs from the linear Boltzmann, and similar hypocoercive equations, in two key ways. Firstly, the confinement mechanism in the linear Boltzmann is through a 'confining field' $\nabla_x V(x)$ whereas in the run and tumble equation the confinement is induced by the bias in the tumbling rate. This more complex confinement mechanism in the run and tumble equation is considerably more difficult to deal with. The second important difference between the linear Boltzmann equation and the run and tumble equation is the nature of the steady states. The steady states for the linear Boltzmann equation are simple and explicit and properties, such as Poincaré inequalities are immediate for such states. For the run and tumble equation, existence of a steady state is a problem in and of itself. The steady states for the run and tumble equation interact in a more complex way with the tools of hypocoercivity. For example, a condition in the theorem in [25] for proving a linear, mass-preserving kinetic equation is hypocoercive is that the steady state of the equation must be in the kernel of both the *transport* and *collision* operators separately. This is not possible for a steady state of the run and tumble equation, although we define the transport $(v \cdot \nabla_x)$ and collision (the right hand side of (5) parts of the operator. This behaviour is similar to non-equilibrium steady states in kinetic theory such as the ones discussed in [2, 12, 13, 14, 28]. Harris's theorem is well adapted to dealing with complex non-explicit steady states, and gives the existence of a steady state and the convergence to that steady state simultaneously. This fact was exploited by the first author in [29] where we used Harris's theorem to find existence of a steady state for a non-linear kinetic equation with nonequilibrium steady states. Moreover, in [16], we showed that Harris's theorem can be applied efficiently to kinetic equations with nonlocal collision operators to obtain quantitative hypocoercivity results. In conclusion, the classical tools from hypocoercivity are difficult to apply on the run and tumble equation but Harris's approach gives promising results.

Our motivation behind considering the weakly non-linear equation is to provide a useful intermediate step to treat the biologically more realistic couplings by means of exploring how a similar approach to ours in this paper can be applied to the fully non-linear case. This point is discussed in Section 4 in detail.

Methodology We obtain the spectral gap result in the linear case by applying Harris's thorem. In our case the Foster-Lyapunov condition which is necessary to use Harris's theorem is inspired from the moment estimates in [43]. Using this type of argument to study asymptotic behaviour of biological models is a recent topic of research. One of the important recent results in this direction was [30] where the author used Doeblin's theorem, which is a predecessor of Harris's theorem, to obtain a spectral gap result for the renewal equation. In [3, 4, 17, 19, 22], Doeblin's and Harris's theorems were used for showing exponential contraction in weighted total variation distances for positive conservative and/or non-conservative semigroups, with several applications in population dynamics including the elapsedtime structured neuron population models, growth-diffusion and the growth-fragmentation equations. Particularly, in [19] the authors improved previous results on the weakly non-linear model for interacting neuron dynamics. Their approach allows them to construct a steady solution to the non-linear equation based on an explicit smallness assumption on the connectivity parameter. The uniqueness of the stationary solution is then proved by a fixed point argument. The perturbation argument we used in the weakly non-linear setting is close to the ideas in [19]. The main difference is that our fixed point argument is more involved and it requires the use of Harris's theorem and unlike in [19] Doeblin's theorem does not work. Moreover, our argument requires additional moment estimates for the perturbation term. We carry out this by finding an appropriate Lyapunov functional in the non-linear case as well. This was not needed in [19] as the authors could work with the steady solutions of the weakly non-linear equation explicitly.

Novelty The novelty in the present work is twofold. Firstly, to the best of our knowledge, we give the most general spectral gap result (valid for arbitrary dimension $d \ge 1$ while relaxing the assumptions on the chemoattactant concentration S and the tumbling frequency T) on the linear run and tumble equation. Particularly, our result is an improvement of the recent work in [43]. Even though the result

in [43] is stated for $d \ge 1$, it is only valid under the assumption that the chemoattractant concentration S is radially symmetric. Our result does not require this assumption to hold and it is valid for more general forms of tumbling frequency including the commonly used ones involving the "sign function" (see e.g. (8), (9)), in particular the fact that we study Lipschitz tumbling rates allows us to perform the later non-linear analysis and maybe helpful in dealing with the fully non-linear problem.

Secondly, our results in the non-linear setting are all new. A non-local coupling (6) has not been considered in the literature before and there is not any explicit convergence result in the non-linear setting with any other type of non-linearity. We believe that our results on the weakly non-linear run and tumble equation are significant as they can be considered as an intermediate step towards studying the physically relevant case with Poisson coupling (7).

1.3 Macroscopic models for chemotaxis

Macroscopic models for chemotaxis are widely studied dating back to Patlak [47], Keller and Segel [38]. Consequently, we describe briefly the relationship between kinetic and macroscopic models and the macroscopic models themselves. The motivation for this subsection is that the limiting aggregationdiffusion equation of the kinetic model that we study is an example of an more accurate macroscopic model for chemotaxis, the flux-limited Keller-Segel (FLKS) system.

In [38], the authors study the aggregation behaviour of a population of a cell called D. discoideum which performs *amoeboid movement* by changing its shape to engulf bacteria or other substances like nutrients. The model describing this behaviour is referred to as the Patlak-Keller-Segel (PKS) system and given in the general form

$$\partial_t \rho = \nabla \cdot \left(D_\rho \nabla \rho - \phi_S(\cdot) \rho \right),\tag{16}$$

$$\partial_t S = D_S \Delta S + g(\rho, S), \tag{17}$$

where $\rho := \rho(t, x)$ is the cell density, S := S(t, x) is the chemoattractant concentration for $t \ge 0$, $x \in \mathbb{R}^2$ and $D_{\rho} > 0$, $D_S > 0$ are the diffusivity of the cells and the chemoattractant respectively. The classical PKS system studied in [38] corresponds to the case $\phi_S(\nabla S) = \chi \nabla S$, where the constant χ is the chemotactic sensitivity. In (17), g is a function describing the production, degradation and consumption of the chemoattractant by the cells. Typically, the cells move towards the regions with higher nutrient density. After consuming all the nutrient, they disperse uniformly over the space and, eventually, they start to aggregate and form clusters. The aggregation describes the instability observed in the population level and it is analogous with many physical problems. The significance of the PKS model comes from the fact that it allows to investigate aggregation behaviour of the population. There are numerous results linking the mesoscopic and microscopic descriptions of chemotaxis to the macroscopic one, e.g. [1, 27, 37, 45, 46, 48, 51, 52, 55] and references therein.

For the particular model we study here we can look at a limit to a particular macroscopic model following [45, 46]. We call τ and ξ the scaled time and space variables respectively. For a small $\varepsilon > 0$, τ and ξ are given by

$$\tau = \varepsilon^2 t, \quad \xi = \varepsilon x.$$

We define $\lambda^{\varepsilon}(v,\xi) := \lambda(v \cdot \nabla_x M(\xi))$ and assume that as $\varepsilon \to 0$,

$$\lambda^{\varepsilon}(v,\xi) \approx 1 - \varepsilon \chi \psi \left(v \cdot (\nabla_{\xi} M)(\xi) \right).$$

This is consistent with the form of λ we assumed in this paper (see hypothesis (H1)).

We call $F(\tau, v, \xi)$ the density distribution of microorganisms with the scaled variables and we have the following equation for F,

$$\varepsilon^2 \partial_\tau F + \varepsilon v \cdot \nabla_\xi F = \int_{\mathcal{V}} \lambda^{\varepsilon}(v',\xi) F(\tau,v',\xi) \,\mathrm{d}v' - \lambda^{\varepsilon}(v,\xi) F.$$

We define the new spatial density,

$$\rho(\tau,\xi) := \int F(\tau,v,\xi) \,\mathrm{d}v$$

We then have, by formal computations in the limit as $\varepsilon \to 0$,

$$\partial_{\tau}\rho = \nabla_{\xi} \cdot \left(\nabla_{\xi}\rho - \phi_S(\xi)\rho\right),\tag{18}$$

where the macroscopic chemotactic velocity ϕ_S is given by

$$\phi_S = \chi \int_{\mathcal{V}} v' \psi(v' \cdot (\nabla_{\xi} M)(\xi)) \, \mathrm{d}v'$$

This model is slightly different and is an example of a flux-limited Keller-Segel equation which appears to be a more accurate description of chemotaxis by taking into account the saturation of the cell velocity. This model was introduced and studied in [21, 24, 35] amongst other work.

2 Harris's Theorem

In this section, we give the statement of Harris's theorem based on [18, 31, 32]. Harris's theorem is a probabilistic method which gives simple conditions on ergodic (long-time) behaviour of Markov processes. The original idea dates back to Doeblin [23] where he showed *mixing* of a Markov chain whose transition probabilities possess a uniform lower bound. We refer to this condition as *Doeblin condition* and explain it below. The mixing of a Markov chain refers to the time until the Markov chain reaches its stationary state distribution. In [33], Harris studied the necessary conditions for a Markov process to admit a unique stationary state or an invariant measure. Later in [26, 40, 41], this result was used for the first time to obtain quantitative convergence rates based on verifying a *minorisation condition* and a *geometric drift* or *Foster-Lyapunov condition*. In [32], the authors provided a simplified proof of Harris's theorem by using appropriate Kantorovich distances and recently in [18], the authors provided an alternative proof by using semigroup arguments. We state the theorems below in the spirit of [18, 31].

We consider a Polish space Ω and denote Σ as the σ -algebra of Borel subsets of Ω . Then (Ω, Σ) is a measurable space; and, endowed with any probability measure, Ω is a Lebesgue space. We denote the space of probability measures by $\mathcal{P}(\Omega)$.

A natural way to construct a Markov process is via a transition probability function.

Definition 2.1. A linear, measurable function $\mathcal{M}(x, A)$ is a transition probability function on (Ω, Σ) if for every x, $\mathcal{M}(x, \cdot)$ is a probability measure on (Ω, Σ) and $\mathcal{M}(\cdot, A)$ is a measurable function for every $A \in \Sigma$.

A Markov operator M and its adjoint M^* can be defined by means of a transition probability function \mathcal{M} in the following way:

$$(M\mu)(A) = \int_{\Omega} \mathcal{M}(x, A) |\mu| \, \mathrm{d}x, \qquad (M^*\phi)(x) = \int_{\Omega} \phi(y) \mathcal{M}(x, \, \mathrm{d}y),$$

where $\phi: \Omega \mapsto [0, +\infty)$ is a bounded measurable function.

Definition 2.2. A family of Markov operators $(M_t)_{t\geq 0}$ is called a *Markov semigroup* if it satisfies the following

- *i.* $M_0 = \text{Id or equivalently } \mathcal{M}_0(x, \cdot) = \delta_x \text{ for all } x \in \Omega.$
- ii. The semigroup property: $M_{t+s} = M_t M_s$ for $t, s \ge 0$.
- *iii.* For every $\mu \in L^1$, $t \mapsto M_t \mu$ is continuous.

We also note that Markov semigroups have

- *i.* Positivity property: $M_t \ge 0$ for any $t \ge 0$
- *ii.* Conservativity property: $\int |M_t \mu|(dx) = \int |\mu|(dx)$ for any finite measure μ .

In our setting $M_t\mu$ will be the solution of the partial differential equation f at time t with an initial data μ which is a probability measure. Moreover for every $t \ge 0$, if $M_t\mu = \mu$, then the probability measure μ is called an *invariant measure* of $(M_t)_{t\ge 0}$ or equivalently a *steady state solution* of f.

Theorem 2.3 (Doeblin's Theorem). Suppose that we have a Markov semigroup $(M_t)_{t\geq 0}$ which satisfies

Doeblin's condition: There exists a time T > 0, a probability distribution ν and a constant $\alpha \in (0,1)$ such that for any z_0 in the domain

$$M_T \delta_{z_0} \ge \alpha \nu.$$

Then for any two finite measures μ_1 and μ_2 and any integer $n \ge 0$ we have that

$$||M_T^n(\mu_1 - \mu_2)||_{\mathrm{TV}} \le (1 - \alpha)^n ||\mu_1 - \mu_2||_{\mathrm{TV}}.$$

As a consequence, the semigroup has a unique invariant probability measure μ_{∞} , and for all probability measures μ

$$\|M_t(\mu - \mu_\infty)\|_{\mathrm{TV}} \le C e^{-\sigma t} \|\mu - \mu_\infty\|_{\mathrm{TV}}, \quad \text{for all } t \ge 0,$$

where $C := 1/(1 - \alpha) > 1$ and $\sigma := -\log(1 - \alpha)/T > 0$.

Doeblin's condition sometimes referred as the strong positivity condition or uniform minorisation condition. It means for a Markov process that the probability of transitioning from any initial state to any other state is positive. Doeblin's theorem gives a unique stationary state for a Markov process and exponential convergence to this state once Doeblin's condition is satisfied. However, proving such a uniform positivity is often difficult. Especially when the state space of the Markov process is unbounded. Harris's theorem is an extension of Doeblin's theorem to these cases. Instead of a uniform minorisation condition, we show that Doeblin's condition is satisfied only in a given region and verify that the process will visit this region often enough. For the latter part we need to find an appropriate Lyapunov functional, i.e., verify the Foster-Lyapunov condition.

Theorem 2.4 (Harris's Theorem). Suppose that we have a Markov semigroup $(M_t)_{t\geq 0}$ satisfying the following two conditions

Foster-Lyapunov condition: There exists $\lambda > 0$, $K \ge 0$, some time T > 0 and a measurable function ϕ such that for all z in the domain

$$(M_T^*\phi)(z) \le \lambda \phi(z) + K. \tag{19}$$

Minorisation condition: There exists a time T > 0, a probability distribution ν and a constant $\alpha \in (0,1)$ such that for any $z_0 \in C$,

$$M_T \delta_{z_0} \ge \alpha \nu, \tag{20}$$

where $\mathcal{C} := \{z : \phi(z) \leq R\}$, for some $R > 2K/(1-\alpha)$.

Then there exist $\beta > 0$ and $\bar{\alpha} \in (0,1)$ such that

$$\|M_T^n(\mu_1 - \mu_2)\|_{\phi,\beta} \le \bar{\alpha} \|\mu_1 - \mu_2\|_{\phi,\beta}$$

for all nonnegative measures $\int \mu_1 = \int \mu_2$ where the norm $\|\cdot\|_{\phi,\beta}$ is defined by

$$\|\mu\|_{\phi,\beta} := \int (1+\beta\phi(z))|\mu| \,\mathrm{d}z$$

Moreover, the semigroup has a unique invariant probability measure μ_{∞} and there exist C > 1, $\sigma > 0$ (depending on T, α, λ, K, R and β) such that

$$\|M_t(\mu-\mu_\infty)\|_{\phi,\beta} \le Ce^{-\sigma t} \|\mu-\mu_\infty\|_{\phi,\beta}, \quad \text{for all } t \ge 0,$$

Remark 2.5. The constants in Theorem 2.4 can be calculated explicitly. If we set $\lambda_0 \in [\lambda + 2K/R, 1)$ for any $\alpha_0 \in (0, \alpha)$ we can choose $\beta = \alpha_0/K$ and $\bar{\alpha} = \max\{1 - \alpha - \alpha_0, (2 + R\beta\lambda_0)/(2 + R\beta)\}$. Then we have $C := 1/\bar{\alpha}$ and $\sigma = -\log \bar{\alpha}/T$.

For the proofs of Theorem 2.3 and Theorem 2.4 we refer to [31, 32] and references therein.

In the following two sections we show how the Foster-Lyapunov condition and the minorisation condition are verified for Equation (5). At the end of the section we give the proof of Theorem 1.3.

We use the notations z := (x, v) and $\int dz := \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \int_{\mathcal{V}} dx dv$ for the rest of the paper whenever convenient.

2.1 Foster-Lyapunov condition

In this section, we verify the Foster-Lyapunov condition (19) for Equation (5). In order to look at Lyapunov functions let us fix some notation. We remark that by Lyapunov functions we do not refer to scalar functions which are used for stability results in ODE theory. By a Lyapunov function in the sense of Harris's theorem, we want some function $\phi(z)$ where $\phi(z) \to \infty$ as $|z| \to \infty$ and the existence of some t > 0, C > 0 and $\alpha \in (0, 1)$ such that

$$\int \phi(z)f(t,z)dz \le \alpha \int \phi(z)f_0(z)\,dz + C \int f_0(z)\,dz,$$
(21)

for any initial data $f_0(z) \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^d \times \mathcal{V})$.

For f satisfying an equation

$$\partial_t f = \mathcal{L} f,$$

we can prove (21) by showing that

$$\mathcal{L}^* \phi \le -\gamma \phi + D,\tag{22}$$

for some positive constants γ , D. One can verify the fact that (22) implies (21) with $\alpha = e^{-\gamma t}$ and $C = D/\gamma$ by an easy computation (see, e.g., Remark 1 in [56]).

In (22), \mathcal{L}^* is the formal adjoint of \mathcal{L} . In our case

$$\mathcal{L}f = -v \cdot \nabla_x f + \int_{\mathcal{V}} \lambda(v' \cdot \nabla_x M) f(x, v') \, \mathrm{d}v' - \lambda(v \cdot \nabla_x M) f(x, v).$$
(23)

Therefore,

$$\mathcal{L}^*\phi = v \cdot \nabla_x \phi + \lambda (v \cdot \nabla_x M) \left(\int_{\mathcal{V}} \phi(x, v') \, \mathrm{d}v' - \phi(x, v) \right).$$
(24)

Lemma 2.6 (Foster-Lyapunov condition for Equation (5)). Suppose that hypotheses (H2)–(H4) hold. Suppose also that $\|\psi\|_{\infty} \leq 1$. Then there exist constants $\gamma > 0$ and $\beta > 0$ such that

$$\phi(x,v) = (1 - \gamma v \cdot \nabla_x M(x) - \beta \gamma \psi(v \cdot \nabla_x M(x)) v \cdot \nabla_x M(x)) e^{-\gamma M(x)}$$

is a function for which the semigroup generated by \mathcal{L} in (23) satisfies the Foster-Lyapunov condition (19) with $\beta = \chi/(1+\chi)$ and

$$\gamma \le \min\left\{\frac{\tilde{\lambda}\chi(1-\chi)\xi}{8(1+\chi)}, \frac{1+\chi}{2(2+\chi)V_0 \|\nabla_x M\|_{\infty}}\right\},$$

with

$$\xi := \begin{cases} m_*^{k-2}, & \text{if } k < 2, \\ 1, & \text{if } k = 2, \\ \|\nabla_x M\|_{\infty}^{k-2}, & \text{if } k > 2, \end{cases}$$

where $m_* > 0$ is found in (H2).

Proof. We begin by a brief motivation of the form of ϕ in the proof. It is structurally similar to an estimate in Lemma 2.2 in [43]. As the confining terms are bounded, we expect that we need to look for a Foster-Lyapunov functional which has exponential tails, by analogy with parabolic reaction diffusion equations with bounded drift terms. We can also guess this form by looking at the previous results on similar equations including [43]. We choose a function of M which will have this behaviour, $e^{-\gamma M}$, and seek a Foster-Lyapunov functional which is closely related to this. We derive the precise form of ϕ by repeatedly differentiating $\int f(t, z)e^{-\gamma M(x)} dz$ along the flow of the equation until we find a term which doesn't change sign. We then create our Foster-Lyapunov function from a combination of $e^{-\gamma M(x)}$ and the key terms appearing in the derivatives of this moment along the flow of the equation.

First we compute the action of \mathcal{L}^* on the different elements.

$$\mathcal{L}^*\left(e^{-\gamma M(x)}\right) = -\gamma v \cdot \nabla_x M(x) e^{-\gamma M(x)}$$

Furthermore,

$$\mathcal{L}^*\left(v\cdot\nabla_x M(x)e^{-\gamma M(x)}\right) = \left(v^T \operatorname{Hess}(M)(x)v - \gamma(v\cdot\nabla_x M(x))^2\right)e^{-\gamma M(x)} - \left(\left(1 - \chi\psi(v\cdot\nabla_x M(x))\right)v\cdot\nabla_x M(x)\right)e^{-\gamma M(x)}.$$

Lastly,

$$\mathcal{L}^{*}\left(\psi(v\cdot\nabla_{x}M(x))v\cdot\nabla_{x}M(x)e^{-\gamma M(x)}\right) = \left(\psi'(v\cdot\nabla_{x}M(x))v^{T}\operatorname{Hess}(M(x))vv\cdot\nabla_{x}M(x)\right)e^{-\gamma M(x)} \\ + \left(\psi(v\cdot\nabla_{x}M(x))v^{T}\operatorname{Hess}(M)(x)v - \gamma\psi(v\cdot\nabla_{x}M(x))(v\cdot\nabla_{x}M(x))^{2}\right)e^{-\gamma M(x)} \\ + \left(1 - \chi\psi(v\cdot\nabla_{x}M(x))\right)\left(\int_{\mathcal{V}}\psi(v'\cdot\nabla_{x}M(x))v'\cdot\nabla_{x}M(x)\,\mathrm{d}v' - \psi(v\cdot\nabla_{x}M(x))v\cdot\nabla_{x}M(x)\right)e^{-\gamma M(x)}$$

Putting everything together gives,

$$\mathcal{L}^{*}\left((1-\gamma v \cdot \nabla_{x} M(x) - \beta \gamma \psi(v \cdot \nabla_{x} M(x))v \cdot \nabla_{x} M(x))e^{-\gamma M(x)}\right)$$

$$\leq -\left(\beta \gamma(1-\chi)\right) \int_{\mathcal{V}} \psi(v' \cdot \nabla_{x} M(x))v' \cdot \nabla_{x} M(x) dv'\right) e^{-\gamma M(x)}$$

$$+ \left(\beta \gamma(1+\chi) - \gamma \chi\right) \psi(v \cdot \nabla_{x} M(x))v \cdot \nabla_{x} M(x)e^{-\gamma M(x)}$$

$$+ \left(\gamma^{2}(v \cdot \nabla_{x} M(x))^{2} + \gamma^{2} \beta \psi(v \cdot \nabla_{x} M(x))(v \cdot \nabla_{x} M(x))^{2}\right) e^{-\gamma M(x)}$$

$$- \left(\gamma + \beta \gamma \psi'(v \cdot \nabla_{x} M(x))v \cdot \nabla_{x} M(x) + \beta \gamma \psi(v \cdot \nabla_{x} M(x))\right) v^{T} \operatorname{Hess}(M)(x)v e^{-\gamma M(x)}.$$
(25)

We also have (for $\beta \leq 1$)

$$-\gamma - \beta \gamma \psi'(v \cdot \nabla_x M(x))v \cdot \nabla_x M(x) - \beta \gamma \psi(v \cdot \nabla_x M(x)) \\ \leq \gamma + \beta \gamma \sup_{\substack{|z| \le V_0 \|\nabla_x M\|_{\infty}}} \left(\psi'(z)z + \psi(z)\right) \le \gamma C_1(\psi, \|\nabla_x M\|_{\infty}),$$

 and

$$\gamma^2 (v \cdot \nabla_x M(x))^2 + \gamma^2 \beta \psi (v \cdot \nabla_x M(x)) (v \cdot \nabla_x M(x))^2 \le 2\gamma^2 |\nabla_x M|^2.$$

Combining these and choosing $\beta = \chi/(1 + \chi)$, so that the second term on the right hand side of the inequality (25) vanishes, we have,

$$\mathcal{L}^*\Big((1-\gamma v\cdot\nabla_x M(x)-\beta\gamma\psi(v\cdot\nabla_x M(x))v\cdot\nabla_x M(x))e^{-\gamma M(x)}\Big)$$

$$\leq \left(-\beta\gamma\tilde{\lambda}(1-\chi)|\nabla_x M|^k+2\gamma^2|\nabla_x M|^2+\gamma C_1 v^T \operatorname{Hess}(M)(x)v\right)e^{-\gamma M(x)}.$$

Let us define

$$\xi := \begin{cases} m_*^{k-2}, & \text{if } k < 2, \\ 1, & \text{if } k = 2, \\ \|\nabla_x M\|_\infty^{k-2}, & \text{if } k > 2, \end{cases}$$

where m_* is coming from (H2). Then, if we choose γ so that the term with γ^2 will be controlled by the negative terms, and so that ϕ will be positive i.e.

$$\gamma \le \min\left\{\frac{\tilde{\lambda}\chi(1-\chi)\xi}{8(1+\chi)}, \frac{1+\chi}{2(2+\chi)V_0 \|\nabla_x M\|_{\infty}}\right\},\,$$

then we have, at least for x sufficiently large in the case k < 2 that,

$$\mathcal{L}^*\left((1-\gamma v\cdot\nabla_x M(x)-\beta\gamma\psi(v\cdot\nabla_x M(x))v\cdot\nabla_x M)e^{-\gamma M(x)}\right)$$

$$\leq \gamma\left(-\frac{3\tilde{\lambda}\chi(1-\chi)}{8(1+\chi)}|\nabla_x M|^k+C_1V_0^2|\operatorname{Hess}(M)(x)|\right)e^{-\gamma M(x)}.$$

Then by hypothesis (H2) there exist R > 0 and $m_* > 0$ such that when |x| > R we have

$$|\nabla_x M| > m_*, \text{ and } |\operatorname{Hess}(M)(x)| \le \frac{\tilde{\lambda}\chi(1-\chi)m_*^k}{4C_1(1+\chi)V_0^2}.$$
 (26)

So we have,

$$\mathcal{L}^* \left((1 - \gamma v \cdot \nabla_x M(x) - \beta \gamma \psi(v \cdot \nabla_x M(x)) v \cdot \nabla_x M(x)) e^{-\gamma M(x)} \right) \\ \leq A \mathbb{1}_{\{|x| < R\}} - \frac{\gamma \tilde{\lambda} \chi (1 - \chi) m_*^k}{8(1 + \chi)} e^{-\gamma M(x)},$$

where

$$A = \sup_{|x| \le R} \left\{ \gamma C_1 V_0^2 |\operatorname{Hess}(M)(x)| e^{-\gamma M(x)} \right\}.$$
(27)

Since we can compare
$$e^{-\gamma M(x)}$$
 to $(1 - \gamma v \cdot \nabla_x M(x) - \beta \gamma \psi (v \cdot \nabla_x M(x)) v \cdot \nabla_x M(x)) e^{-\gamma M(x)}$ by
 $(1 - \gamma v \cdot \nabla_x M(x) - \beta \gamma \psi (v \cdot \nabla_x M(x)) v \cdot \nabla_x M(x)) e^{-\gamma M(x)} \leq (1 + \gamma V_0 \| \nabla_x M \|_{\infty} (1 + \beta \| \psi \|_{\infty})) e^{-\gamma M(x)}$
 $\leq \frac{3}{2} e^{-\gamma M(x)},$

if we write

$$\phi(x,v) = (1 - \gamma v \cdot \nabla_x M(x) - \beta \gamma \psi(v \cdot \nabla_x M(x)) v \cdot \nabla_x M(x)) e^{-\gamma M(x)},$$

then

$$\mathcal{L}^*\phi \le A - \frac{\gamma \tilde{\lambda} \chi (1-\chi) m_*^k}{12(1+\chi)} \phi = -\frac{\gamma \tilde{\lambda} \chi (1-\chi) m_*^k}{12(1+\chi)} \left(A' - \phi \right), \tag{28}$$

where

$$A' = \frac{12C_1 V_0^2(1+\chi)}{\tilde{\lambda}\chi(1-\chi)m_*^k} \sup_{|x| \le R} \left\{ |\text{Hess}(M)(x)|e^{-\gamma M(x)} \right\}.$$

Therefore

$$\int f(t,z)\phi(z)\,\mathrm{d}z \le A' + \exp\left(-\frac{\gamma\tilde{\lambda}\chi(1-\chi)m_*^k}{12(1+\chi)}t\right)\left(\int f_0(z)\phi(z)\,\mathrm{d}z - A'\right).$$
we (21) for $\alpha = \exp\left(-\frac{\gamma\tilde{\lambda}\chi(1-\chi)m_*^k}{12(1+\chi)}t\right)$ and $C = A'.$

Thus we prove (21) for $\alpha = \exp\left(-\frac{\gamma \tilde{\lambda} \chi (1-\chi) m_*^k}{12(1+\chi)}t\right)$ and C = A'.

2.2 Minorisation condition

In this section, we show the minorisation condition (20) for Equation (5). We consider two semigroups $(\mathcal{T}_t)_{t\geq 0}$ and $(\mathcal{S}_t)_{t\geq 0}$. Let $(\mathcal{T}_t)_{t\geq 0}$, represents the *transport* part, be associated to the equation

$$\partial_t f + v \cdot \nabla_x f + \lambda(x, v) f = 0, \qquad (29)$$

which means that the solution of (29) can be written as for $t \ge 0$, for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$,

$$\mathcal{T}_t f_0(x, v) = f_0(x - vt, v) \tag{30}$$

Here since f_t is a measure we understand the change of variables $x \mapsto x - vt$ by duality. Let $(\mathcal{S}_t)_{t \ge 0}$ be associated to the equation

$$\partial_t f + v \cdot \nabla_x f + \lambda(v, x) f = \int_{\mathcal{V}} \lambda(x, v') f(t, x, v') \,\mathrm{d}v'.$$
(31)

Then the solution of (31) is

$$f(t, x, v) = \mathcal{S}_t f_0(x, v) = \exp\left(-\int_0^t \lambda(x - vs) \mathrm{d}s\right) \mathcal{T}_t f_0(x, v) + \int_0^t \exp\left(-\int_s^t \lambda(x - vr) \mathrm{d}r\right) \mathcal{T}_{t-s}(\mathcal{J}f(s, x, v)) \mathrm{d}s,$$

where $\mathcal{J}f(t,x,v) := \int_{\mathcal{V}} \lambda(x,v') f(t,x,v') \, \mathrm{d}v'$ is the jump operator. Remark that we have

$$\mathcal{J}f(t,x,v) = \int_{\mathcal{V}} \lambda(x,v') f(t,x,v') \, \mathrm{d}v' \ge (1-\chi) \mathbb{1}_{\{|v| \le V_0\}} \int_{\mathcal{V}} f(t,x,v') \, \mathrm{d}v'.$$
(32)

Since $S_t f_0(x, v) \ge e^{-(1-\chi)t} \mathcal{T}_t f_0(x, v)$ and $S_t f_0(x, v) \ge \int_0^t e^{-(1+\chi)(t-s)} \mathcal{T}_{t-s}(\mathcal{J}f(s, x, v)) \, \mathrm{d}s$, we substitute the first of these inequalities into the second and then itteratively substitute the result into the second to get

$$f(t,x,v) = \mathcal{S}_t f_0(x,v) \ge (1-\chi)^2 e^{-(1+\chi)t} \int_0^t \int_0^s \mathcal{T}_{t-s} \mathcal{J} \mathcal{T}_{s-r} \mathcal{J} \mathcal{T}_r f_0(x,v) \,\mathrm{d}r \,\mathrm{d}s.$$

Lemma 2.7. Given any time $t_0 > 0$, for all $t \ge t_0$ it holds that

$$\int_{\mathcal{V}} \mathcal{T}_t \left(\delta_{x_0}(x) \mathbb{1}_{\{|v_0| \le V_0\}}(v) \right) \, \mathrm{d}v \ge e^{-(1+\chi)t} \frac{1}{t^d |B(V_0)|} \mathbb{1}_{\{|x-x_0| \le V_0t\}} \quad \text{for any } x_0, v_0 > 0.$$

Proof. Note that we have

$$\mathcal{T}_t f_0(x, v) \ge e^{-(1+\chi)t} f_0(x - vt, v), \quad t \ge 0.$$

For an arbitrary starting point and a velocity $(x_0, v_0), x_0 > 0, v_0 \in B(V_0)$ (ball of radius V_0) we have

$$\mathcal{T}_t\left(\delta_{x_0}(x)\mathbb{1}_{\{|v_0|\leq V_0\}}(v)\right) \geq e^{-(1+\chi)t}\delta_{x_0}(x-vt)\mathbb{1}_{\{|v_0|\leq V_0\}}.$$

By integrating this and changing variables we obtain

$$\int_{\mathcal{V}} \mathcal{T}_t \left(\delta_{x_0}(x) \mathbb{1}_{\{|v_0| \le V_0\}} \right) \, \mathrm{d}v \ge e^{-(1+\chi)t} \int_{\mathcal{V}} \delta_{x_0}(x-vt) \mathbb{1}_{\{|v_0| \le V_0\}}(v) \, \mathrm{d}v$$
$$\ge e^{-(1+\chi)t} \frac{1}{t^d |B(V_0)|} \int_{\left|\frac{x-y}{t}\right| \le V_0} \delta_{x_0}(y) \mathbb{1}_{\{\left|\frac{x-y}{t}\right| \le V_0\}}(v) \, \mathrm{d}y.$$

This gives the result.

Now, we prove the minorisation condition for (5) below.

Lemma 2.8 (Minorisation condition for Equation (5)). For every $R_* > 0$ we can take $t = 3 + R_*/V_0$ such that any solution of Equation (5) with initial data $f_0 \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^d \times \mathcal{V})$ with $\int_{|x| \leq R_*} \int_{\mathcal{V}} f_0(x, v) \, dx \, dv = 1$ satisfies

$$f(t, x, v) \ge (1 - \chi^2) e^{-(1 + \chi)t} \frac{1}{t^d |B(V_0)|} \mathbb{1}_{\{|x| \le V_0\}} \mathbb{1}_{\{|v| \le V_0\}}.$$
(33)

Proof. We take $f_0(x,v) := \delta_{(x_0,v_0)}$ where $(x_0,v_0) \in \mathbb{R}^d \times \mathcal{V}$, is an arbitrary point with an arbitrary velocity. We only need to consider $x_0 \in B(0, R_*)$, then the bound we obtain depends on R_* . First we have that

$$\mathcal{T}_r f_0 \ge e^{-(1+\chi)r} \delta_{(x_0+rv_0,v_0)}.$$

Applying \mathcal{J} to this we get

$$\mathcal{JT}_r f_0 \ge (1-\chi) e^{-(1+\chi)r} \delta_{x_0+rv_0}(x) \mathbb{1}_{\{|v| \le V_0\}}.$$

We then apply Lemma 2.7 and obtain

$$\int_{\mathcal{V}} \mathcal{T}_{s-r} \mathcal{J} \mathcal{T}_r f_0 \ge (1-\chi) e^{-(1+\chi)s} \frac{1}{(s-r)^d |B(V_0)|} \mathbb{1}_{\{|x-x_0-rv_0| \le V_0(s-r)\}}$$

This means that

$$\mathcal{JT}_{s-r}\mathcal{JT}_{r}f_{0} \ge (1-\chi)^{2}e^{-(1+\chi)s}\frac{1}{(s-r)^{d}|B(V_{0})|}\mathbb{1}_{\{|x-x_{0}-rv_{0}|\le V_{0}(s-r)\}}\mathbb{1}_{\{|v|\le V_{0}\}}.$$

Lastly we have that

$$\mathcal{T}_{t-s}\mathcal{J}\mathcal{T}_{s-r}\mathcal{J}\mathcal{T}_{r}f_{0} \geq (1-\chi)^{2}e^{-(1+\chi)t}\frac{1}{(s-r)^{d}|B(V_{0})|}\mathbb{1}_{\{|x-(t-s)v-x_{0}-rv_{0}|\leq V_{0}(s-r)\}}\mathbb{1}_{\{|v|\leq V_{0}\}}.$$

Since we have (remembering that all the velocities are smaller than V_0)

$$|x - v(t - s) - x_0 - rv_0| \le (s - r)V_0,$$

implies that

$$|x| \le (s-r)V_0 - (t-s)V_0 - rV_0 - R_*.$$

Then if we ensure that $(s-r) \ge 2 + R_*/V_0$, $r \le 1/2$ and $(t-s) \le 1/2$ we will have

$$\mathcal{T}_{t-s}\mathcal{J}\mathcal{T}_{s-r}\mathcal{J}\mathcal{T}_{r}f_{0} \ge (1-\chi)^{2}e^{-(1+\chi)t}\frac{1}{(s-r)^{d}|B(V_{0})|}\mathbb{1}_{\{|x|\le V_{0}\}}\mathbb{1}_{\{|v|\le V_{0}\}}$$

Therefore let us set $t = 3 + R_*/V_0$. Then we can restrict the time integrals to $r \in (0, 1/2)$, $s \in (5/2 + R_*/V_0, 3 + R_*/V_0)$. Then we get

$$f(t, x, v) \ge \int_0^t \int_0^s \mathcal{T}_{t-s} \mathcal{J}\mathcal{T}_{s-r} \mathcal{J}\mathcal{T}_r f_0(x, v) \, \mathrm{d}r \, \mathrm{d}s$$

$$\ge (1-\chi)^2 e^{-(1+\chi)t} \int_{5/2+R_*/V_0}^{3+R_*/V_0} \int_0^{1/2} \frac{1}{(s-r)^d |B(V_0)|} \mathbb{1}_{\{|x| \le V_0\}} \mathbb{1}_{\{|v| \le V_0\}} \, \mathrm{d}r \, \mathrm{d}s$$

$$\ge (1-\chi)^2 e^{-(1+\chi)t} \frac{1}{t^d |B(V_0)|} \mathbb{1}_{\{|x| \le V_0\}} \mathbb{1}_{\{|v| \le V_0\}}.$$

This gives the uniform lower bound we need for Harris's theorem. We can extend this from delta function initial data to general initial data by using the fact that the associated semigroup is Markov. \Box

Proof of Theorem 1.3. We verify the two hypotheses of Harris's theorem in Lemmas 2.6 and 2.8. The contraction in the $\|\cdot\|_*$ norm and the existence of a steady state follow again by Harris's theorem.

Moreover Lemma 2.6 gives that for the steady state f_{∞} obtained by Harris's theorem we have

$$\int \phi(z) f_{\infty}(z) \, \mathrm{d} z \le A'.$$

Our conditions on γ ensure that

$$\frac{1}{2}e^{-\gamma M(x)} \le \phi \le \frac{3}{2}\phi.$$

Therefore we obtain

$$\int e^{-\gamma M(x)} f_{\infty}(z) \, \mathrm{d}z \le 2A',$$

and this leads to

$$\int e^{-\gamma M(x)} f(t,z) \, \mathrm{d}z \le 2A' + 3 \exp\left(-\frac{\gamma \tilde{\lambda} \chi (1-\chi) m_*^k}{6(1+\chi)} t\right) \int e^{-\gamma M(x)} f_0(z) \, \mathrm{d}z,$$

which gives the contraction in the $\|\cdot\|_{**}$ norm. We remark that in this proof γ only depends on M through $\tilde{\lambda}$ and $\|\nabla_x M\|_{\infty}$. So if $\psi'(0) > 0$ we can choose γ uniformly over sets of M where $\nabla_x M$ is bounded uniformly.

3 Weakly non-linear coupling

3.1 Stationary solutions

In this section, we build a stationary state for the run and tumble equation (5) with the weakly non-linear coupling (6). We know by Theorem 1.3 that there exists a unique steady state solution to the linear equation satisfying the assumptions listed in Theorem 1.3. For each fixed M, we call \mathcal{S}_t^M the semigroup on measures associated to the linear equation and f_{∞}^M its unique stationary solution. Then we see that f_{∞}^M satisfies

$$v \cdot \nabla_x f^M_{\infty}(x, v) + \lambda (v \cdot \nabla_x M(x)) f^M_{\infty}(x, v) - \int \lambda (v' \cdot \nabla_x M(x)) f^M_{\infty}(x, v') \, \mathrm{d}v' = 0.$$
(34)

We define a function $G: \mathcal{B} \to C^2(\mathbb{R})$, where \mathcal{B} is the set of M satisfying hypothesis 1.1. given by

$$G(M) = \log\left(S_{\infty}\left(1 + \eta N * \rho^{M}\right)\right),\tag{35}$$

where S_{∞} a smooth function, having exponential tails with some fixed parameter, $\eta > 0$ a small constant, N a positive, compactly supported, smooth function, and $\rho^M := \int f_{\infty}^M(x, v) \, dv$. We see that if M is a fixed point of G then f_{∞}^M will be a steady state of the non-linear equation.

Proposition 3.1. Suppose that M is of the form $M = M_{\infty} + \log(1 + \eta N * \rho)$ for some $\rho \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^d)$. Then if η is small enough in terms of $\|N\|_{W^{2,\infty}}$, we have that

$$\|\mathcal{S}_{t}^{M}f\|_{**} \le De^{-\sigma t}\|f\|_{**},$$

where D, σ are strictly positive constants only depending on M_{∞}, N , and η . Furthermore, if f_{∞}^{M} is the steady state of \mathcal{S}_{t}^{M} then

$$\|f_{\infty}^{M}\|_{**} \le \tilde{C},\tag{36}$$

where \tilde{C} is a constant depending on M_{∞} , N, η and $\|\cdot\|_{**}$ is defined in (15).

Proof. The result follows from Theorem 1.3. We recall that the constants in Lemma 2.8 in the minorisation part do not depend on M, whereas, the constants in Lemma 2.6 in the Foster-Lyapunov part depend on M through $\|\nabla_x M\|_{\infty}$, R, and m_* so that for all |x| > R we have (recalling (26)),

$$|\nabla_x M| > m_*, \text{ and } |\operatorname{Hess}(M)| \le \frac{\tilde{\lambda}\chi(1-\chi)m_*^k}{4C_1(1+\chi)V_0^2}$$

We want to verify this for M solving (6). We can control $|\nabla_x M|$ and |Hess(M)| by considering

$$M = M_{\infty} + \log\left(1 + \eta N * \rho\right) \sim M_{\infty} + \eta N * \rho^{M}.$$

Provided that $\eta \leq \|N\|_{\infty}^{-1}$, which we can choose it to be, by Taylor expansion we have that

$$|M - M_{\infty}| \le \eta N * \rho \le \eta ||N||_{\infty}.$$

In a similar way, we can take gradients to get

$$\nabla_x M = \nabla_x M_\infty + \eta \frac{\nabla_x N * \rho}{1 + \eta N * \rho}$$

Then

$$\left\|\frac{\nabla_x N * \rho}{1 + \eta N * \rho}\right\|_{\infty} \le \|\nabla_x N * \rho\|_{\infty} \le \|\nabla_x N\|_{\infty}.$$

So we can ensure that

$$|\nabla_x M - \nabla_x M_{\infty}| \le \eta \|\nabla_x N\|_{\infty}.$$
(37)

We can also compute the Hessian to get

$$\operatorname{Hess}(M) = \operatorname{Hess}(M_{\infty}) + \frac{\eta(\operatorname{Hess}(N) * \rho) + \eta^2 \left((N * \rho)(\operatorname{Hess}(N) * \rho) - (\nabla_x N * \rho)(\nabla_x N^T * \rho) \right)}{(1 + \eta N * \rho)^2}$$

Therefore, the difference between $\operatorname{Hess}(M)$ and $\operatorname{Hess}(M_{\infty})$ is controlled by $\eta \|N\|_{W^{2,\infty}}$. Suppose that there exist R_{∞} and m_{∞} such that for all $|x| > R_{\infty}$ we have

$$|\nabla_x M_{\infty}| \ge m_{\infty}, \text{ and } |\operatorname{Hess}(M_{\infty})| \le \frac{\tilde{\lambda}\chi(1-\chi)m_{\infty}^k}{32C_1(1+\chi)V_0^2}$$

Then by choosing η small enough in terms of $||N||_{W^{2,\infty}}$ and setting $m_* = m_{\infty}/2$ and $R = R_{\infty}$ we have m_* and R in (26) only depend on M_{∞}, N, η .

Furthermore, by Theorem 1.3 for the steady state f_∞^M we have

$$\int e^{-\gamma M(x)} f_{\infty}^{M}(z) \, \mathrm{d}z \le 2A',$$

where

$$A' = \frac{6C_1 V_0^2 (1+\chi)}{\tilde{\lambda}\chi (1-\chi) m_*^k} \sup_{|x| \le R} \left\{ |\text{Hess}(M)(x)| e^{-\gamma M(x)} \right\}.$$

We can bound A' only in terms of M_{∞}, N, η . We already know this is true for m_* and R. Moreover, as $\gamma \leq 1$ we have

$$\sup_{|x| \le R} \left\{ |\operatorname{Hess}(M)(x)| e^{-\gamma M(x)} \right\} \le \sup_{|x| \le R} \left\{ (|\operatorname{Hess}(M_{\infty})(x)| + \eta ||N||_{W^{2,\infty}}) e^{-M_{\infty}(x) + \eta ||N||_{\infty}} \right\},$$

which we can bound in a way that only depends on M_{∞}, N, η . Therefore,

$$\int e^{-\gamma M_{\infty}(x)} f_{\infty}^{M}(z) \, \mathrm{d}z \le e^{\eta \|N\|_{\infty}} \int e^{-\gamma M(x)} f_{\infty}^{M}(z) \, \mathrm{d}z,$$

and we can compare $\gamma M_{\infty}(x)$ to δ in Theorem 1.3. So this lets us control $||f_{\infty}^{M}||_{**}$ in terms of A' up to factors only depending on M_{∞}, N, η . This finishes the proof.

Then we can prove

Proposition 3.2. We consider Equation (5) with the weakly non-linear coupling (6) where we suppose that N is a positive, smooth function with a compact support, $\eta > 0$ is a constant, and S_{∞} is a smooth function satisfying for some $\underline{C}, \overline{C}, \alpha > 0$ that

$$\underline{C} - \alpha \langle x \rangle \le M_{\infty}(x) := \log(S_{\infty}(x)) \le \overline{C} - \alpha \langle x \rangle, \tag{38}$$

where $\langle x \rangle = \sqrt{1+x^2}$. Then there exists some constant \tilde{C} depending on $\underline{C}, \bar{C}, \alpha$ such that if $\eta < \tilde{C}$ then G has a unique fixed point and there exists a unique steady state solution to Equation (5) with a weakly non-linear coupling.

Proof. We want to use the contraction mapping theorem to show that G, defined by (35), has a fixed point. Let us take for $i = \{1, 2\}$,

$$M_i = M_{\infty} + \log \left(1 + \eta N * \rho^{M_i} \right), \quad \text{where} \quad \rho^{M_i} = \int_{\mathcal{V}} f_{\infty}^{M_i}(x, v) \, \mathrm{d}v.$$

We also know that M_{∞} satisfies (38). Then we show contractivity of G by using the fact that

$$||G(M_1) - G(M_2)||_{\infty} \le C\eta ||N * \rho^{M_1} - N * \rho^{M_2}||_{\infty} \le C\eta ||N||_{\infty} ||f_{\infty}^{M_1} - f_{\infty}^{M_2}||_{**},$$

where C > 0 is a constant.

Let us call $\mathcal{S}_t^{M_i}$, for $i = \{1, 2\}$, the semigroups associated to the linear equation with $M_i := \log S_i$. Then, we choose t sufficiently large so that $\mathcal{S}_t^{M_1}$ is a contraction. By Proposition 3.1 we know that there exist $D, \sigma > 0$ such that

$$\|\mathcal{S}_t^{M_1}(f-g)\|_{**} \le De^{-\sigma t} \|f-g\|_{**}.$$

The constants D, σ only depend on M_{∞}, N, η because it was shown in Lemma 3.1, the bounds on M required to prove Theorem 1.3 are preserved by G and do not depend on M except through, M_{∞}, N, η . We recall

$$\|f\|_{**} = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \int_{\mathcal{V}} e^{\delta \langle x \rangle} |f(t, x, v)| \, \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}v,$$

where $\delta = \beta \gamma$. Note that the definition of δ comes from the fact that we essentially weight by $e^{-\gamma M_{\infty}(x)}$ and $M_{\infty}(x) \sim -\beta \langle x \rangle$. Let us call $f_{\infty}^{M_i}$ the steady state solutions of the linear equation with M_i for $i = \{1, 2\}$. Then

$$\|f_{\infty}^{M_{1}} - f_{\infty}^{M_{2}}\|_{**} = \|\mathcal{S}_{t}^{M_{1}} f_{\infty}^{M_{1}} - \mathcal{S}_{t}^{M_{2}} f_{\infty}^{M_{2}}\|_{**} \le \|\mathcal{S}_{t}^{M_{1}} (f_{\infty}^{M_{1}} - f_{\infty}^{M_{2}})\|_{**} + \|(\mathcal{S}_{t}^{M_{1}} - \mathcal{S}_{t}^{M_{2}}) f_{\infty}^{M_{2}}\|_{**}$$

leading to

$$(1 - De^{-\sigma t}) \| f_{\infty}^{M_1} - f_{\infty}^{M_2} \|_{**} \le \| (\mathcal{S}_t^{M_1} - \mathcal{S}_t^{M_2}) f_{\infty}^{M_2} \|_{**}.$$
(39)

So it only remains to show that for a fixed time period, \mathcal{S}_t^M is continuous in M.

Let us write

$$\Lambda(s,t,M_i)(x,v) = \int_s^t \lambda(v \cdot \nabla_x M_i(x - v(t - r))) \,\mathrm{d}r,$$

and

$$\mathcal{J}^{M_i}(f)(x,v) = \int_{\mathcal{V}} \lambda(v' \cdot \nabla_x M_i(x)) f(x,v') \, \mathrm{d}v'.$$

Then we have

$$\mathcal{S}_t^{M_i} f = e^{-\Lambda(0,t,M_i)} \mathcal{T}_t f + \int_0^t e^{-\Lambda(s,t,M_i)} \mathcal{J}^{M_i} \mathcal{T}_{t-s} \mathcal{S}_s^{M_i} f \,\mathrm{d}s$$

where $(\mathcal{T})_{t\geq 0}$ is defined in (31). Consequently we have

$$\begin{aligned} |\mathcal{S}_{t}^{M_{1}}f - \mathcal{S}_{t}^{M_{2}}f| &\leq \left(e^{-\Lambda(0,t,M_{1})} - e^{-\Lambda(0,t,M_{2})}\right)\mathcal{T}_{t}f \\ &+ \int_{0}^{t} \left(e^{-\Lambda(s,tM_{1})} - e^{-\Lambda(s,t,M_{2})}\right)\mathcal{J}^{M_{1}}\mathcal{T}_{t-s}\mathcal{S}_{s}^{M_{1}}f \,\mathrm{d}s \\ &+ \int_{0}^{t} e^{-\Lambda(s,t,M_{2})}(\mathcal{J}^{M_{1}} - \mathcal{J}^{M_{2}})\mathcal{T}_{t-s}\mathcal{S}_{s}^{M_{1}}f \,\mathrm{d}s \\ &+ \int_{0}^{t} e^{-\Lambda(s,t,M_{2})}\mathcal{J}^{M_{2}}\left(\mathcal{S}_{s}^{M_{1}} - \mathcal{S}_{s}^{M_{2}}\right)f \,\mathrm{d}s. \end{aligned}$$

We can see that for $s, t \leq T$ there exists a constant $C_T > 0$ depending on T so that

$$\left| e^{-\Lambda(s,tM_1)} - e^{-\Lambda(s,t,M_2)} \right| \le C_T \| \nabla_x M_1 - \nabla_x M_2 \|_{\infty}.$$

We also have trivially that

$$e^{-\Lambda(s,t,M)} < 1.$$

Turning to the jump operator \mathcal{J} we have

$$\|(\mathcal{J}^{M_1} - \mathcal{J}^{M_2})f\|_{**} \le \|\lambda(v \cdot \nabla_x M_1) - \lambda(v \cdot \nabla_x M_2)\|_{\infty} \|f\|_{**} \le C \|\nabla_x M_1 - \nabla_x M_2\|_{\infty} \|f\|_{**},$$

and

$$\|\mathcal{J}^{M_i}f\|_{**} \le (1+\chi)\|f\|_{**}.$$

We also have

$$\|\mathcal{T}_t f\|_{**} \le e^{2\delta V_0 t} \|f\|_{**}$$

Therefore we obtain, for $t \leq T$,

$$\left\| \left(\mathcal{S}_{t}^{M_{1}} - \mathcal{S}_{t}^{M_{2}} \right) f \right\|_{**} \leq C_{T} \|\nabla_{x} M_{1} - \nabla_{x} M_{2}\|_{\infty} \|f\|_{**} + \int_{0}^{t} C_{T} \left\| \left(\mathcal{S}_{s}^{M_{1}} - \mathcal{S}_{s}^{M_{2}} \right) f \right\|_{**} \, \mathrm{d}s$$

Then Gronwall's inequality gives,

$$\left\| \left(\mathcal{S}_{t}^{M_{1}} - \mathcal{S}_{t}^{M_{2}} \right) f \right\|_{**} \leq C_{T}' \| \nabla_{x} M_{1} - \nabla_{x} M_{2} \|_{\infty} \| f \|_{**}, \tag{40}$$

where $C'_T > 0$ a constant depending on T.

Using (39) and (40) we obtain an estimate on the steady states given by

$$\|f_{\infty}^{M_1} - f_{\infty}^{M_2}\|_{**} \le (1 - De^{-\sigma T})^{-1} C_T' \|\nabla_x M_1 - \nabla_x M_2\|_{\infty} \|f_{\infty}^{M_2}\|_{**}.$$

Now we can see that

$$\|\rho^{M_1} - \rho^{M_2}\|_{**} = \|f_{\infty}^{M_1} - f_{\infty}^{M_2}\|_{**}.$$
(41)

Consequently we have,

$$\|G(M_1) - G(M_2)\|_{\infty} \le C\eta \|\nabla_x M_1 - \nabla_x M_2\|_{\infty} \|\rho^{M_2}\|_{**}$$

Similarly

$$\|\nabla_x G(M_1) - \nabla_x G(M_2)\|_{\infty} \le C\eta \|\nabla_x M_1 - \nabla_x M_2\|_{\infty} \|\rho^{M_2}\|_{**}.$$

By Proposition 3.1, we also have that

$$\|\rho^{M_2}\|_{**} = \|f_{\infty}^{M_2}\|_{**} \le \tilde{C}.$$

So we choose η sufficiently small to get

$$\|G(M_1) - G(M_2)\|_{W^{1,\infty}} \le \frac{1}{2} \|M_1 - M_2\|_{W^{1,\infty}}.$$

This gives a unique fixed point of G which we call \tilde{M} such that $G(\tilde{M}) = \tilde{M}$. Thus, $f_{\infty} = f^{\tilde{M}}$ is the unique steady state solution of the the weakly non-linear equation.

3.2 Perturbation argument

In this section, we prove that the solution of Equation (5) with the weakly non-linear coupling (6) converges exponentially to its unique steady state solution obtained in Proposition (3.2). We showed, in Proposition 3.1, that we can find R, m_* and bound $\|\nabla_x M\|_{\infty}$ uniformly over the set of log-chemoattractants of the form

$$M = M_{\infty} + \log(1 + \eta N * \rho),$$

for some probability density ρ on \mathbb{R}^d . This means that we can also fix, γ and $\tilde{\lambda}$ uniformly over this set since we show in the proof of Proposition 3.1 that they only depend on these bounds.

Let us first look at a moment estimate for the weakly non-linear equation (5)-(6). We would like to show an inequality analogous to (21) for the solution f of the weakly non-linear equation. That is to say we show

$$\int e^{-\gamma M_{\infty}(x)} f(t,z) \, \mathrm{d}z \le \alpha \int e^{-\gamma M_{\infty}(x)} f_0(z) \, \mathrm{d}z + C \int f_0(z) \, \mathrm{d}z.$$
(42)

Let us define two operators \mathcal{L}_{M_t} and $\mathcal{L}_{M_{\infty}}$ associated to the weakly non-linear equation and the equation for the stationary solution (34) respectively. Then we have

$$\mathcal{L}_{M_t}f = -v \cdot \nabla_x f + \int \lambda(v' \cdot \nabla_x M) f(t, x, v') \, \mathrm{d}v' - \lambda(v \cdot \nabla_x M) f(t, x, v), \tag{43}$$

where M is given by (6). Similarly $\mathcal{L}_{M_{\infty}}$ is given by

$$\mathcal{L}_{M_{\infty}}f = -v \cdot \nabla_x f + \int \lambda(v' \cdot \nabla_x M_{\infty}) f(t, x, v') \,\mathrm{d}v' - \lambda(v \cdot \nabla_x M_{\infty}) f(t, x, v). \tag{44}$$

We carry out a similar argument to the one in Section 2.1 for the linear equation. We show

Lemma 3.3. Suppose that \mathcal{L}_{M_t} and $\mathcal{L}_{M_{\infty}}$ are given by (43) and (44) and $\mathcal{L}^*_{M_t}$, $\mathcal{L}^*_{M_{\infty}}$ denote their formal adjoints respectively. Then let

$$\phi(x,v) = (1 - \gamma v \cdot \nabla_x M(x) - \beta \gamma \psi(v \cdot \nabla_x M(x)) v \cdot \nabla_x M(x)) e^{-\gamma M_{\infty}(x)},$$
(45)

and $M_t = M_\infty + \log(1 + \eta N * \rho_t)$ where $\rho_t := \int_{\mathcal{V}} f(t, x, v) \, \mathrm{d}v$. Then we have

$$\mathcal{L}_{M_t}^* \phi \le \mathcal{L}_{M_\infty}^* \phi + 4\eta \chi V_0 \|\psi'\|_{\infty} \|\nabla_x N\|_{\infty} e^{-\gamma M_\infty(x)}.$$
(46)

Proof. First, using (37) we obtain

$$|\psi(v \cdot \nabla_x M_{\infty}) - \psi(v \cdot \nabla_x M)| \le \|\psi'\|_{\infty} |v| |\nabla_x M - \nabla_x M_{\infty}| \le \eta V_0 \|\psi'\|_{\infty} \|\nabla_x N\|_{\infty}.$$
(47)

Then, we see that

$$\mathcal{L}_{M_t}^* \phi - \mathcal{L}_{M_\infty}^* \phi = (\lambda (v \cdot \nabla_x M_t) - \lambda (v \cdot \nabla_x M_\infty)) \left(\int_{\mathcal{V}} \phi(x, v') \, \mathrm{d}v' - \phi(x, v) \right)$$
$$= \chi (\psi (v \cdot \nabla_x M_t) - \psi (v \cdot \nabla_x M_\infty)) \left(\int_{\mathcal{V}} \phi(x, v') \, \mathrm{d}v' - \phi(x, v) \right)$$
$$\leq 4\eta \chi V_0 \|\psi'\|_{\infty} \|\nabla_x N\|_{\infty} e^{-\gamma M_\infty(x)}.$$

In the last line of the above inequality, we used the fact that γ is chosen so that $\phi \leq 2e^{-\gamma M_{\infty}(x)}$. This gives (46).

Lemma 3.4. Let f be the solution of Equation (5) with the coupling (6). If η is sufficiently small, then there exists a constant B > 0 (not depending on η) such that

$$\int \phi(z)f(t,z)\,\mathrm{d}z \le \frac{A}{B} + e^{-Bt} \int \phi(z)f_0(z)\,\mathrm{d}z,\tag{48}$$

where A is given by (27) in the proof of Lemma 2.6 and ϕ is given in (45). In fact we have the bound

$$||f||_* \le \frac{A}{B} + ||f_0||_*.$$
(49)

Using equivalence of norms we also have

$$||f||_{**} \le C^* + 4||f_0||_{**},$$

for $C^* > 0$ a constant.

Proof. From Lemma 2.6, inequality (28) we know that

$$\mathcal{L}_{M_{\infty}}^{*}\phi \leq A - \frac{\gamma \tilde{\lambda} \chi (1-\chi) m_{*}^{k}}{6(1+\chi)} e^{-\gamma M_{\infty}(x)}.$$

Using (46) in Lemma 3.3 we obtain

$$\mathcal{L}_{M_t}^* \phi \le A - \left(\frac{\gamma \tilde{\lambda} \chi (1-\chi) m_*^k}{6(1+\chi)} - 4\eta \chi V_0 \|\psi'\|_{\infty} \|\nabla_x N\|_{\infty}\right) e^{-\gamma M_{\infty}(x)}.$$

Therefore, if we take η such that

$$\eta \le \frac{\lambda \chi (1-\chi) m_*^k}{48 \chi (1+\chi) V_0 \|\psi'\|_{\infty} \|\nabla_x N\|_{\infty}},$$

then we have for some constant B > 0

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \int \phi(z) f(t,z) \mathrm{d}z \le -B \int \phi(z) f(t,z) \,\mathrm{d}z + A \int f_0(z) \,\mathrm{d}z.$$

Therefore, by Gronwall's inequality we obtain (48). We can also turn this into an exponential decay on

$$\int e^{-\gamma M_{\infty}(x)} f(t,z) \, \mathrm{d}z.$$

This gives the result.

Lemma 3.5. Suppose that f_t is the solution of Equation (5) with the coupling (6) and f_{∞} its steady state solution. Suppose that η is small enough so that Lemmas 3.3 and 3.4 are valid. Suppose also that

$$\|f_0\|_{**} < \frac{1}{4} \left(\frac{\sigma^2}{4\eta \chi V_0 D \|\psi'\|_{\infty} \|\nabla_x N\|_{\infty}} - C^* \right), \tag{50}$$

where σ , D and C^{*} are found in Theorem 1.3, Proposition 3.1 and Lemma 3.4 respectively. Then we have for some C > 0 that

$$||f_t - f_{\infty}||_{**} \le Ce^{-\sigma t/2} ||f_0 - f_{\infty}||_{**}.$$

Proof. We rewrite the weakly non-linear equation (5)-(6) as

$$\partial_t f(t, x, v) = \mathcal{L}_{M_t} f(t, x, v) = \mathcal{L}_{\tilde{M}} f(t, x, v) - (\mathcal{L}_{\tilde{M}} - \mathcal{L}_{M_t}) f(t, x, v),$$

where \tilde{M} is the fixed point of G we found in Proposition 3.2.

Let us call the last term $h = h(t, x, v) := (\mathcal{L}_{\tilde{M}} - \mathcal{L}_{M_t})f$. Then by Duhamel's formula we have

$$f_t = f(t, x, v) = \mathcal{S}_t^{\tilde{M}} f_0(x, v) + \int_0^t \mathcal{S}_{t-s}^{\tilde{M}} h(s, x, v) \,\mathrm{d}s.$$
(51)

where $(\mathcal{S}_t^{\tilde{M}})_{t\geq 0}$ is the semigroup associated to Equation (31). Using definitions (43) and (44) we have

$$h(t,x,v) = \chi \left(\int_{\mathcal{V}} \left(\psi(v' \cdot \nabla_x M_t) - \psi'(v' \cdot \nabla_x \tilde{M}) \right) f(t,x,v') \, \mathrm{d}v' - \left(\psi(v \cdot \nabla_x M_t) - \psi(v \cdot \nabla_x \tilde{M}) \right) f \right).$$

Then, using (37) and (41) from Propositions 3.1 and 3.2 respectively, we have

$$\begin{aligned} \|h\|_{**} &\leq 2\chi \|\psi'\|_{\infty} V_0 \|\nabla_x M_t - \nabla_x \tilde{M}\|_{\infty} \|f\|_{**} \\ &\leq 2\chi \|\psi'\|_{\infty} V_0 \|\nabla_x \log\left(1 + \eta N * \rho\right) - \nabla_x \log\left(1 + \eta N * \rho_{\infty}\right) \|_{\infty} \|f\|_{**} \\ &\leq 2\chi \eta V_0 \|\psi'\|_{\infty} \|\nabla_x N\|_{\infty} \|f_t - f_{\infty}\|_{**} \|f\|_{**}. \end{aligned}$$

Therefore we obtain

$$\|h\|_{**} \le C\eta \|f_t - f_\infty\|_{**} \|f_t\|_{**}$$
(52)

where C is a constant depending on χ, ψ, V_0, N . Now we subtract f_{∞} from both sides of (51) and take the norms to get

$$\|f_t - f_\infty\|_{**} = \|\mathcal{S}_t^{\tilde{M}} f_0 - f_\infty\|_{**} + \left\| \int_0^t \mathcal{S}_{t-s}^{\tilde{M}} h(s) \,\mathrm{d}s \right\|_{**}.$$
(53)

We can bound the first term in the right hand side of (53) by the result of Theorem 1.3 and the second term by (52). Therefore we obtain

$$\|f_t - f_\infty\|_{**} \le C_1 e^{-\sigma t} \|f_0 - f_\infty\|_{**} + C\eta \int_0^t e^{-\sigma(t-s)} \|f_s - f_\infty\|_{**} \|f_t\|_{**} \,\mathrm{d}s,$$

where C > 0, the constant in (52), depends on χ, ψ, V_0, N . By the constraint (50) on η , and the bound on $||f_t||_{**}$ from Lemma 3.4 we have

$$||f_t - f_{\infty}||_{**} \le C_1 e^{-\sigma t} ||f_0 - f_{\infty}||_{**} + \frac{\sigma}{2} \int_0^t e^{-\sigma(t-s)} ||f_s - f_{\infty}||_{**} \, \mathrm{d}s.$$

By Gronwall's inequality this leads to

$$||f_t - f_{\infty}||_{**} \le Ce^{-\sigma t/2} ||f_0 - f_{\infty}||_{**}$$

for some constant C > 0. This finishes the proof.

Proof of Theorem 1.5. Proposition 3.2 gives a unique steady state solution for the weakly non-linear equation (5)-(6). The exponential relaxation to the steady state solution follows from Lemma 3.5. This completes the proof.

4 Discussion and future research

4.1 Existence of steady states for fully non-linear models

In this section we discuss the relationship of our work to the much more challenging problem of finding steady states to the run and tumble equation with the fully nonlinear coupling of the form

$$-\Delta S + S = \rho.$$

Our goal is to describe hopeful direction for future research as well as giving an idea of why we consider the weakly non-linear coupling studied here as a possible stepping stone towards this more complex model. In this regard, we believe that a Schauder fixed point argument is a plausible strategy for finding a steady state of the fully non-linear coupling. We suggest looking for fixed points of the following function $\tilde{G}(M) = \log S$ where S is the solution to

$$-\Delta S + S = \rho^M,$$

where ρ^M is the spatial marginal of the unique steady state of (5) with the log-chemoattractant M.

The first step is to determine if the estimates we obtain in Section 2.1 (the Foster-Lyapunov part) would be good enough to run such a fixed point argument, that is, we would like to see if the bounds we find on

$$\int f^M \phi \, \mathrm{d}z,$$

are sufficient to find a compact, convex set of possible chemoattractant densitites which is preserved by \tilde{G} . Since there is a one-to-one correspondence between $\tilde{G}(M)$ and ρ^M , this is equivalent to finding a set of possible ρ^M . A standard way of showing the necessary compactness would be to show tightness of the measures ρ^M , and this can be achieved by proving moment estimates (such as are found in the Foster-Lyapunov part). However, we encounter a problem that at each iteration of such a scheme, we lose weight in our moment estimate.

In this paper, we experiment with a toy non-linear model, where we could use the estimates coming from the Foster-Lyapunov part to be able to use a fixed point argument. This gives us a better understanding of how this type of argument should work. We briefly describe our process for choosing this coupling.

The first idea was to come up with a perturbative setting to try a coupling of the form

$$-\Delta S + S = \rho_* + \eta \rho, \tag{54}$$

where ρ_* is a fixed spatial density and η is a small number. However, we notice that this coupling has essentially exactly the same problem with a loss of weight as the fully non-linear coupling. In order to create a coupling we can deal with, the $\eta\rho$ in the right hand side of (54) needs to be multiplied by a function of x that decays sufficiently fast at infinity. Therefore, we can try a coupling that looks like

$$-\Delta S + S = \rho_* (1 + \eta \rho). \tag{55}$$

Then, S, which is the solution of (55), is given by

$$S = N * (\rho_*(1 + \eta \rho)), \tag{56}$$

where $N = \mathcal{F}^{-1}(1/(1+|\xi|^2))$, and \mathcal{F} represents the Fourier transform. Then, we further simplify (56) as

$$S = S_{\infty}(1 + \eta N * \rho)$$

where N is now a positive, smooth function and S_{∞} is a smooth function. Considering this simplification allows us to keep algebra simple without losing the behaviour of (56). By this strategy we obtain the weakly non-linear, nonlocal coupling introduced in (6). Even though this weakly non-linear coupling serves as a toy model we still retain the idea of a fixed point argument on the chemoattractant profile.

Our contraction mapping argument is an adaption of what was originally an argument to show continuity of a map \tilde{G} defined on a fully non-linear coupling. In order to carry out a Schauder fixed point argument, continuity of such \tilde{G} would be needed.

Finally, the toy model we introduced, even though biologically not realistic, allows us to understand better how to use the arguments presented in this paper in the fully non-linear setting. This is a subject of ongoing work.

4.2 Physically more realistic tumbling kernels

The methods used here should be able to accomodate more complex tumbling kernels. In particular we would like to look at models with unbounded velocity spaces (where we would expect to see polynomial rather than exponential rates of convergence) and tumbling kernels where the bacteria can only turn by a bounded angle.

The experiments conducted in [5] shows that, for peritrichous bacteria such as *E. coli*, the tumbling kernel κ depends only on the relative angle θ between the pre- and post-tumbling velocities v and v' respectively. Particularly, for bacteria *E. coli*, the tumbling kernel κ is given by

$$\kappa(v, v') = \frac{g(\theta)}{2\pi \sin \theta} \quad \text{where} \quad \theta = \arccos\left(\frac{v \cdot v'}{|v||v'|}\right),\tag{57}$$

where $g(\theta)$ is the sixth order polynomial satisfying $g(0) = g(\pi) = 0$ (see [9, 46]).

They also suggest the following form of tumbling rate

$$\lambda = \lambda_0 \exp\left(-\frac{c_1 k_D}{(k_D + S)^2} v \cdot \nabla_x S\right),$$

where λ_0, c_1 and k_D are constants and S is the chemoattractant density. In an ongoing work we study these more realistic versions of the run and tumble model.

Acknowledgements

The authors wish to thank E. Bouin, J. A. Cañizo, V. Calvez, and G. Raoul for useful comments and discussions. J. Evans was supported by FSPM postdoctoral fellowship and the grant ANR-17-CE40-0030 (both until July 2020). H. Yoldaş was supported by the European Research Council (ERC) under the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation programme (grant agreement No 865711). The authors gratefully acknowledge the support of the Hausdorff Institute for Mathematics (Bonn) through Junior Trimester Program on Kinetic Theory.

A Cauchy theory for the weakly non-linear equation

For T > 0 fixed given $f \in L^{\infty}_t([0,T]; \mathcal{P}_{x,v})$ we define the function

$$M^{f}(t,x) = M_{\infty} + \log(1 + \eta \int N(x-y)f_{t}(\mathrm{d}y,\mathrm{d}v)).$$

Then if we fix initial data $f_0 \in \mathcal{P}_{x,v}$ we can define a function from $L^{\infty}_t([0,T];\mathcal{P}_{x,v})$ to itself via

$$\mathcal{H}(f)_t = \exp\left(-\int_0^t \lambda(v \cdot \nabla_x M^f(s, x - vs)) \mathrm{d}s\right) f_0(x - vt, v) + \int_0^t \exp\left(-\int_s^t \lambda(v \nabla_x M^f(r, x - vr)) \mathrm{d}r\right) \int_{\mathcal{V}} \lambda(v' \cdot \nabla_x M^f(s, x - v(t - s))) f_s(x, v') \mathrm{d}v' \mathrm{d}s.$$

Lemma A.1. Suppose ψ is uniformly Lipschitz then there exists a T_* depending only on ψ, χ such that if $T \leq T_*$ then \mathscr{H} is a contraction.

Proof. We have the following computations

$$\begin{split} \sup_{t \leq T} &\| \exp\left(-\int_0^t \lambda(v \cdot \nabla_x M^{f^1}(s, x - vs)) \mathrm{d}s\right) f_0(x - vt, v) - \exp\left(-\int_0^t \lambda(v \cdot \nabla_x M^{f^2}(s, x - vs)) \mathrm{d}s\right) f_0(x - vt, v) \|_{TV} \\ &\leq \sup_{t, x, v} |\exp\left(-\int_0^t \lambda(v \cdot \nabla_x M^{f^1}(s, x - vs)) \mathrm{d}s\right) - \exp\left(-\int_0^t \lambda(v \cdot \nabla_x M^{f^2}(s, x - vs)) \mathrm{d}s\right)| \\ &\leq T \sup_{t, x, v} |\lambda(v \cdot \nabla_x M^{f^1}(t, x - vt)) - \lambda(v \cdot \nabla_x M^{f^2}(t, x - vt))| \\ &\leq T \eta V_0 \|\psi\|_{Lip} |\nabla_x M^{f^1}(t, x - vt) - \nabla_x M^{f^2}(t, x - vt)| \\ &\leq T \eta V_0 \|\psi\|_{Lip} \|\nabla_x N\|_{\infty} \sup_{t \leq T} \|f_t^1 - f_t^2\|_{TV}. \end{split}$$

We also have

$$\begin{split} \| \int_{\mathcal{V}} \lambda(v' \cdot \nabla_x M^{f^1}(s, x - v(t - s))) f_s^1(x, v') \mathrm{d}v' - \int_{\mathcal{V}} \lambda(v' \cdot \nabla_x M^{f^2}(s, x - v(t - s))) f_s^2(x, v') \mathrm{d}v' \|_{TV} \\ &\leq |B(V_0)| \|\lambda(v' \cdot \nabla_x M^{f_1}) - \lambda(v' \cdot \nabla_x M^{f_2})\|_{\infty} + (1 + \chi) |B(V_0)| \|f_t^1 - f_t^2\|_{TV} \\ &\leq \mathbb{C}(V_0, \eta, \|\psi\|_{Lip}, \chi) \sup_{t \leq T} \|f_t^1 - f_t^2\|_{TV}. \end{split}$$

which implies working as in the first computation

$$\begin{split} \sup_{t \le T} \| \int_0^t \exp\left(-\int_s^t \lambda(v\nabla_x M^{f^1}(r, x - vr)) \mathrm{d}r\right) \int_{\mathcal{V}} \lambda(v' \cdot \nabla_x M^{f^1}(s, x - v(t - s))) f_s^1(x, v') \mathrm{d}v' \mathrm{d}s \\ \int_0^t \exp\left(-\int_s^t \lambda(v\nabla_x M^{f^2}(r, x - vr)) \mathrm{d}r\right) \int_{\mathcal{V}} \lambda(v' \cdot \nabla_x M^{f^2}(s, x - v(t - s))) f_s^2(x, v') \mathrm{d}v' \mathrm{d}s \|_{TV} \\ \le TC(V_0, \|\psi\|_{Lip}, \eta, \chi) \sup_{t \le T} \|f_t^1 - f_t^2\|_{TV} \end{split}$$

Then putting this together gives

$$\sup_{t \le T} \|\mathscr{H}(f^1)_t - \mathscr{H}(f^2)_t\|_{TV} \le TC(V_0, \|\psi\|_{Lip}, \eta, \chi) \sup_{t \le T} \|f_t^1 - f_t^2\|_{TV}.$$

Therefore if T is small enough this is a contraction.

Proposition A.2. The equation (5) with the coupling (6) has a unique global solution in $L^{\infty}([0,\infty);\mathcal{P}_{x,v})$.

Proof. On the time interval [0, T] with $T \leq T_*$ from the above lemma we have a unique fixed point of the map \mathscr{H} which give us a solution of (5) with the coupling (6) on this time interval. Then since T_* does not depend on f_0 we can itterate this forwards in time to build solutions on arbitrarily long time intervals.

References

- W. Alt. Biased random walk models for chemotaxis and related diffusion approximations. J. Math. Biol., 9(2):147-77, 1980.
- [2] L. Arkeryd and A. Nouri. L¹ solutions to the stationary Boltzmann equation in a slab. Ann. Fac. Sci. Toulouse Math. (6), 9(3):375-413, 2000.
- [3] V. Bansaye, B. Cloez, and P. Gabriel. Ergodic behavior of non-conservative semigroups via generalized Doeblin's conditions. Acta Appl. Math., 166:29–72, 2020.
- [4] V. Bansaye, B. Cloez, P. Gabriel, and A. Marguet. A non-conservative Harris ergodic theorem. J. Lond. Math. Soc., 106(3):2459-2510, 2022.
- [5] H. C. Berg and D. A. Brown. Chemotaxis in *Eschericha Coli* analysed by three-dimensional tracking. *Nature*, 239:500-504, 1972.
- [6] N. Bournaveas and V. Calvez. Critical mass phenomenon for a chemotaxis kinetic model with spherically symmetric initial data. Ann. I. H. Poincaré-A.N., 26(5):1871–1895, 2009.
- [7] N. Bournaveas and V. Calvez. A review of recent existence and blow-up results for kinetic models of chemotaxis. Can. Appl. Math. Q., 18(3):253-267, 2010.
- [8] N. Bournaveas, V. Calvez, S. Gutiérrez, and B. Perthame. Global existence for a kinetic model of chemotaxis via dispersion and Strichartz estimates. *Commun. Partial. Differ. Equ.*, 33(1):79–95, 2008.
- [9] B. J. Brosilow, R. M. Ford, S. Sarman, and P. T. Cummings. Numerical solution of transport equations for bacterial chemotaxis: Effect of discretization of directional motion. SIAM J. Appl. Math., 56(6):1639-1663, 1996.
- [10] V. Calvez. Chemotactic waves of bacteria at the mesoscale. J. Eur. Math. Soc., 22:593–668, 2019.
- [11] V. Calvez, G. Raoul, and C. Schmeiser. Confinement by biased velocity jumps: Aggregation of Escherichia Coli. Kinet. Relat. Models, 8(4):651-666, 2015.
- [12] E. A. Carlen, R. Esposito, J. Lebowitz, R. Marra, and C. Mouhot. Uniqueness of the nonequilibrium steady state for a 1d BGK model in kinetic theory. Acta Appl. Math., 169:99–124, 2019.
- [13] E. A. Carlen, R. Esposito, J. L. Lebowitz, R. Marra, and C. Mouhot. Approach to the steady state in kinetic models with thermal reservoirs at different temperatures. J. Stat. Phys., 172(2):522-543, 2018.
- [14] E. A. Carlen, J. L. Lebowitz, and C. Mouhot. Exponential approach to, and properties of, a non-equilibrium steady state in a dilute gas. Braz. J. Probab. Stat., 29(2):372-386, 2015.
- [15] F. Castella and B. Perthame. Strichartz' estimates for kinetic transport equations. C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris, 322(6):535-540, 1996.
- [16] J. A. Cañizo, C. Cao, J. Evans, and H. Yoldaş. Hypocoercivity of linear kinetic equations via Harris's theorem. *Kinet. Relat. Models*, 13(1):97–128, 2020.
- [17] J. A. Cañizo, P. Gabriel, and H. Yoldaş. Spectral gap for the growth-fragmentation equation via Harris's theorem. SIAM J. Math. Anal., 53(5):5185-5214, 2021.

- [18] J. A. Cañizo and S. Mischler. Harris-type results on geometric and subgeometric convergence to equilibrium for stochastic semigroups. J. Funct. Anal., 284(7):109830, 2021.
- [19] J. A. Cañizo and H. Yoldaş. Asymptotic behaviour of neuron population models structured by elapsed-time. Nonlinearity, 32(2):464-495, 2019.
- [20] F. Chalub, P. Markowich, B. Perthame, and C. Schmeiser. Kinetic models for chemotaxis and their drift-diffusion limits. *Monatsh. Math.*, 142:123-141, 2004.
- [21] A. Chertock, A. Kurganov, X. Wang, and Y Wu. On a chemotaxis model with saturated chemotactic flux. *Kinet. Relat. Models*, 5(1):51–95, 2012.
- [22] B. Cloez and P. Gabriel. On an irreducibility type condition for the ergodicity of nonconservative semigroups. C. R. Math. Acad. Sci. Paris, 358(6):733-742, 2020.
- [23] W. Doblin. Éléments d'une theorie générale des chaînes simples constantes de Markoff. Ann. Sci. Éc. Norm. Supér. (3), 57:61–111, 1940.
- [24] Y. Dolak and C. Schmeiser. Kinetic models for chemotaxis: Hydrodynamic limis and spatiotemporal mechanisms. J. Math. Biol., 51:595-615, 2005.
- [25] J. Dolbeault, C. Mouhot, and C. Schmeiser. Hypocoercivity for linear kinetic equations conserving mass. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 367(6):3807–3828, 2015.
- [26] D. Down, S. P. Meyn, and R. L. Tweedie. Exponential and uniform ergodicity of Markov processes. Ann. Probab., 23(4):1671–1691, 1995.
- [27] R. Durett and C. Neuhauser. Particle systems and reaction-diffusion equations. Ann. Probab., 22:289–333, 1994.
- [28] R. Esposito, Y. Guo, C. Kim, and R. Marra. Non-isothermal boundary in the Boltzmann theory and Fourier law. Comm. Math. Phys., 323(1):177–239, 2013.
- [29] J. Evans and A. Menegaki. Existence of a non-equilibrium steady state for the non-linear BGK equation on an interval. Pure Appl. Anal., 3(1):223-252, 2021.
- [30] P. Gabriel. Measure solutions to the conservative renewal equation. ESAIM Proc. Surveys, 62:68– 78, 2018.
- [31] M. Hairer. Convergence of Markov processes. Lecture notes., 2016.
- [32] M. Hairer and J. C. Mattingly. Yet another look at Harris' ergodic theorem for Markov chains. In Seminar on Stochastic Analysis, Random Fields and Applications VI., vol. 63, pages 109–117. Basel: Birkhäuser, 2011.
- [33] T. E. Harris. The existence of stationary measures for certain Markov processes. In Proceedings of the Third Berkeley Symposium on Mathematical Statistics and Probability, 1954–1955, vol. II, pages 113–124. University of California Press, Berkeley and Los Angeles, 1956.
- [34] F. Hérau. Hypocoercivity and exponential time decay for the linear inhomogeneous relaxation Boltzmann equation. Asymptot. Anal., 46(3-4):349–359, 2006.
- [35] T. Hillen and K. J. Painter. A user's guide to PDE models for chemotaxis. J. Math. Biol., 58(1):183-217, 2009.

- [36] H. J. Hwang, K. Kang, and A. Stevens. Drift-diffusion limits of kinetic models for chemotaxis: A generalization. Discrete Contin. Dyn. Syst. Ser. B, 5(2):319–334, 2005.
- [37] F. James and N. Vauchelet. Chemotaxis: From kinetic equations to aggregate dynamics. Nonlinear Diff. Eq. Appl., 20(1):101-127, 2013.
- [38] E. F. Keller and L. A. Segel. Initiation of slime mold aggregation viewed as an instability. J. Theor. Biol., 26(3):399-415, 1970.
- [39] E. H. Lieb and M. Loss. Analysis, volume 14 of ser. Graduate Studies in Mathematics. Providence, RI: American Mathematical Society, 2001.
- [40] S. P. Meyn and R. L. Tweedie. Stability of Markovian processes III: Foster-Lyapunov criteria for continuous-time processes. Adv. Appl. Prob., pages 518–548, 1993.
- [41] S. P. Meyn and R. L. Tweedie. Markov Chains and Stochastic Stability. 2nd ed., Cambridge Mathematical Library. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2019. With a prologue by P. W. Glynn.
- [42] S. Mischler and J. Scher. Spectral analysis of semigroups and growth-fragmentation equations. Ann. l H. Poincaré-A.N., 33(3):849-212, 2016.
- [43] S. Mischler and Q. Weng. On a linear runs and tumbles equation. Kinet. Relat. Models, 10(3):799– 822, 2017.
- [44] H. G. Othmer, S. R. Dunbar, and W. Alt. Models of dispersal in biological systems. J. Math. Biol., 26:263-298, 1988.
- [45] H. G. Othmer and T. Hillen. The diffusion limit of transport equations derived from velocity-jump processes. SIAM J. Appl. Math., 61(3):751-775, 2000.
- [46] H. G. Othmer and T. Hillen. The diffusion limit of transport equations II: Chemotaxis equations. SIAM J. Appl. Math., 62(4):1222-1250, 2002.
- [47] C. S. Patlak. Random walk with persistence and external bias. Bull. Math. Biophys., 15:311–338, 1953.
- [48] B. Perthame, N. Vauchelet, and Z. Wang. The flux limited Keller-Segel system; properties and derivation from kinetic equations. *Rev. Mat. Iberoam.*, 36(2):357–386, 2020.
- [49] J. Saragosti, V. Calvez, N. Bournaveas, A. Buguin, P. Silberzan, and B. Perthame. Mathematical description of bacterial traveling pulses. *PLoS Comput. Biol.*, 6(8):e1000890, 2010.
- [50] J. Saragosti, V. Calvez, N. Bournaveas, B. Perthame, A. Buguin, and P. Silberzan. Directional persistence of chemotactic bacteria in a traveling concentration wave. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*, 108(39):16235-16240, 2011.
- [51] G. Si, M. Tang, and X. Yang. A pathway-based mean-field model for E. coli chemotaxis: Mathematical derivation and Keller-Segel limit. *Multiscale Model. Simul.*, 12(2):907–926, 2014.
- [52] A. Stevens. Derivation of chemotaxis equations of moderately interacting stochastic many particle systems. SIAM J. Appl. Math., 61:183-212, 2000.
- [53] D. W. Stroock. Some stochastic processes which arise from a model of the motion of a bacterium. Z. Wahrscheinlichkeitstheorie verw. Gebiete, 28(4):305-315, 1974.

- [54] C. Villani. Hypocoercivity. Mem. Amer. Math. Soc., 202(950):iv+141, 2009.
- [55] C. Xue. Macroscopic equations for bacterial chemotaxis: Integration of detailed biochemistry of cell signaling. J. Math. Biol., 70:1-44, 2015.
- [56] H. Yoldaş. On quantitative hypocoercivity estimates based on Harris-type theorems. J. Math. Phys., 64:031101, 2023.